

LUND UNIVERSITY

On Generation and Function of Neutrophil Extracellular Traps in Abdominal Sepsis

Hawez, Avin

2020

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Hawez, A. (2020). *On Generation and Function of Neutrophil Extracellular Traps in Abdominal Sepsis.* [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Clinical Sciences, Malmö]. Lund University, Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors:

Creative Commons License: CC BY

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

On Generation and Function of Neutrophil Extracellular Traps in Abdominal Sepsis

AVIN HAWEZ

CLINICAL SCIENCES, MALMÖ | FACULTY OF MEDICINE | LUND UNIVERSITY







Department of Clinical Sciences, Malmö Surgery Research Unit

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2020:116 ISBN 978-91-7619-979-4 ISSN 1652-8220



On Generation and Function of Neutrophil Extracellular Traps in Abdominal Sepsis

Avin Hawez



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

By due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended at Surgical Clinic, Carl-Bertil Laurells gata 9, floor 3, Room 3050, Malmö via zoom on the 2nd of November 2020 at 09:00 AM.

Faculty opponent Professor Mihály Boros, MD, PhD Institute of Surgical Research, University of Szeged, Hungary

Organization Faculty of Medicine, Department of clinical	Document name:
sciences, surgery research unit Lund university	DOCTORAL DISSERTATION
	Date of issue: November 2 nd , 2020
Author:	Sponsoring organization
Avin hawez	

Abstract

Sepsis is a clinical condition that develops when the immune system over-response to an infection. Sepsis can lead to organ failure as well as subsequent death. Sepsis-induced host response involves neutrophil over activation which can lead to self tissue damage. Neutrophils are the first line of defence, play a critical role in controlling the infection. Upon activation, neutrophils release neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) as part of the host defence. NETs can be harmful in a certain conditions and involved in the pathogenesis of inflammatory diseases. The underlying mechanisms of NET formation in abdominal sepsis is still scarce. Thus, to understand the signaling mechanism of NET formation and it's role in abdominal sepsis, we investigated the role of c-Abl kinase in paper I. We detected NETs by electron microscopy in the lungs of septic mice. We found that inhibition of c-Abl kinase decreased CXC chemokines, neutrophil recruitment, and tissue injury in the lung. As well as it reduced plasma levels of DNA-histone complex in septic mice. In paper II, we show that miR-155 positively regulates neutrophil expression of peptidylarginine deiminase 4 (PAD4) which catalyzes histone hypercitrullination as part of NET formation. Bone marrow neutrophils were transfected with a mimic miR-155 which increased PAD4 expression and NET formation, while neutrophils transfected with antagomiR-155 decreased PAD4 expression and NET formation. In paper III, we studied the role of miR-155 in regulating NET formation in a mouse model of abdominal sepsis. In miR-155 deficient cecal ligation and puncture mice, we observed a reduction of CXC chemokines and neutrophil recruitment. In paper IV, by use of intravital microscopy, we observed that NET-microparticle aggregates participate in neutrophils-endothelium interactions. We found that neutrophil recruitment is mediated by HMGB-1 expressed on MPs via TLR2 and TLR4 signalling. Taken together our findings in the current thesis identified mechanisms of NET formation and tissue damage in abdominal sepsis. Thus, targeting these specific mechanisms of NET generation could be a useful strategy to ameliorate lung damage in abdominal sepsis.

Key words: abdominal sepsis, inflamation, neutrophil, neutrophil extracellular traps, mRNA, adhesion.		
Classification system and/or index terms (if any)		
Supplementary bibliographical information		Language: English
ISSN and key title 1652-8220		ISBN 978-91-7619-979-4
Recipient's notes	Number of pages: 78	Price
	Security classification	on

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Avin Hawez

Date 2020-10-01

On Generation and Function of Neutrophil Extracellular Traps in Abdominal Sepsis

Avin Hawez



Supervisor: Professor Henrik Thorlacius, MD, PhD Co-supervisor: Milladur Rahman, PhD

Copyright © Avin Hawez

Faculty of medicine Department of clinical sciences

ISSN 1652-8220 ISBN 978-91-7619-979-4

Printed in Sweden by Media-Track Lund University, Lund 2020



Media-Tryck is an environmentally certified and ISO 14001 certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se

بسم الله الرحمن الرحيم يَرْفَعِ اللهُ الَّذِينَ آمَنُوا مِنكُمْ وَالَّذِينَ أُوتُوا الْعِلْمَ دَرَجَاتٍ وَاللَّهُ بِمَا تَعْمَلُونَ خَبِيرٌ ﴿١١﴾

Allah will exalt those of you who believe and those who are given knowledge, to high degrees; and Allah is aware of what you do.

To my beloved family

Table of Contents

List of Original Papers	9
Abbreviations	11
Introduction	13
Background	15
Sepsis	15
Pathogenesis of sepsis	16
Neutrophil in sepsis-induced lung injury	16
Neutrophil recruitment	17
Neutrophil extracellular traps in sepsis	18
c-Abl kinase in inflammation	19
MicroRNAs and miR-155	19
Cellular microparticles	20
Treatment of sepsis	20
- Aims	21
Material and methods	23
Contents	23
Animals	25
Fynerimental sensis model	25
Systemic Leukocyte counts	25
Lung Edema and Broncheoalveolar	26
Myeloperoxidase activity	26
Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)	26
Isolation of hone marrow and blood neutronhil	20
NET detection in vivo	27
NET formation in vitro and NET quantification	
Ros formation in neutrophils.	
Flow cvtometry	28
Western blot analysis	28
Confocal microscopy	29
Transmission electron microscope and	
scanning electron microscope	29
Cremaster muscle preparation	30
Lung IVM	30
Assessment of cytotoxicity	31
Viability assay	32
Histology	32

Bacterial cultures	32
Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR)	
MicroRNA transfection	33
Bioinformatics analysis of binding sites	33
RNA immunoprecipitation RIP assay	34
Statistics	34
Results and Discussion	37
General discussion and future perspectives	53
Conclusion	57
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning på Svenska	59
Acknowledgment	63
References	65

List of Original Papers

- I. **Hawez A,** Ding Z, Rahman M, Taha D, Madhi R, and Thorlacius H. c-Abl kinase regulates neutrophil extracellular trap formation and lung injury in abdominal sepsis. Submitted to *J. Cell. Physiol.* 2020
- II. Hawez A, Al-Haidari A, Madhi R, Rahman M, and Thorlacius H. MiR-155 Regulates PAD4-Dependent Formation of Neutrophil Extracellular Traps. *Front Immunol.* 2019; 10:2462. *
- III. **Hawez A,** Rahman M, Algaber A, Taha D, and Henrik Thorlacius. MiR-155 regulates neutrophil extracellular trap formation and lung injury in abdominal sepsis. *Manuscript*.
- IV. Wang Y, Du F, Hawez A, Morgelin M, and Thorlacius H. Neutrophil extracellular trap-microparticle complexes trigger neutrophil recruitment via high-mobility group protein 1 (HMGB1)-toll-like receptors (TLR2)/TLR4 signalling. Br J Pharmacol. 2019; 176(17):3350-63. **
- * Open access reprinted with permission via CC licence

**Reprinted with permission from John Wiley and Sons

Abbreviations

Ago2	Argonaute 2
ALI	Acute lung injury
APC	Allophycocyanin
AREs	AU-rich elements
BALF	Bronchioalveolar lavage fluid
CHX	Cycloheximide
CLP	Cecal ligation and puncture
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate
GM-CSF	Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor
HMGB1	High-mobility group protein 1
H&M	Hematoxylin and eosin
LFA-1	Lymphocyte function antigen 1
Mac-1	Membrane activated antigen 1
MIP-2	Macrophage inflammatory protein 2
MNL	Monomorphonuclear leukocyte
MPO	Myeloperoxidase
MPs	Microparticles
mRNA	Messenger RNA
NETs	Neutrophil extracellular traps
PAD4	Peptidyl arginine deiminase 4
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline Phycoerythrin

PAMP	Pathogen associated molecular pattern
PE	Phycoerythrin
PMA	Phorbol 12- myristate 13-acetate
PMNL	Polymorphonuclear leukocyte
PSGL-1	P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1
QPT-	Quantitative Reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction
RAGE	Receptor for advanced glycation end products
RIP	RNA immunoprecipitation
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
SIRS	Systemic inflammatory response syndrome
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RPMI 1640	Rowsell Park Memorial Institute medium 1640
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TNF	Tumour necrosis factor
TSB	Target site blocker
UTR	Untranslated region

Introduction

Sepsis is a complex disorder that develops from dysregulated host response to an infection. Sepsis is associated with acute organ dysfunction and high mortality (1). Despite the advances in intensive care management, sepsis is still associated with high mortality (2). The population-based incidence of sepsis is estimated to be 176– 380 cases per 100,000 inhabitants each year with a mortality of up to 35% worldwide, resulting in approximately 20,000 deaths per day and is responsible for over 250,000 death in the United States annually (3, 4). Multiple organ failure is the main reason for mortality in sepsis. Host defence response against the pathogens induces a complex network of molecular cascades leading to tissue damages and organ failure including lung, liver, and kidney (5-7). The lung is the most sensitive organ that gets affected heavily during systemic inflammation (8, 9). Neutrophil activation responsible for the development of multiple organ failure during sepsis through the release of cytokine and other inflammatory mediators leading to neutrophil infiltration and tissue damage, later organ dysfunction (10). Neutrophils are the most abundant white cells in blood and constitute the first line of host defence against microbial infections and in inflammation (11). Neutrophils are generated from stem cells in the bone marrow and mature through several stages including myeloblast, promyelocyte, myelocyte, metamyelocyte, and finally, neutrophil (12). Neutrophil plays an important role in the innate immune system including chemotaxis, anti-microbial function, phagocytosis, degranulation (13, 14). It is the first leukocyte migrate from the blood to the site of infection or inflammation via a process called chemotaxis, then phagocyte pathogens or release NETs to kill the microbes (15). These cells also can negatively cause pathological outcomes in a wide range of diseases. In the site of infection, neutrophil engulfs and kill bacteria or form neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) to trap and kill pathogens (16). Moreover, the excessive formation of NETs causes tissue damage in both infectious and non-infectious diseases (17). Neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) release upon neutrophil activation to the extracellular space, which consists of decondensed chromatin including DNA, histones, neutrophil elastase, and myeloperoxidase (18). It has been shown that NET formation causes tissue damage in various inflammatory diseases (19). Thus, in this thesis, we focus on the mechanism of NETs formation and NETs-mediated tissue damage in abdominal sepsis. It is also known that neutrophil dies after completing its mission (20).

Background

Sepsis

epsis is an uncontrolled systemic inflammatory response to infection. Sepsis leads to the release of inflammatory mediators and recruitment of excessive inflammatory cells to the site of infection which causes tissue damage and organ failure (21-23). Sepsis is still a major cause of death despite significant research and the burden due to sepsis is several billion dollars in all over the world. Thus, sepsis is a major public health issue (24). SIRS is a hallmark in patient with sepsis which defined by several clinical variables including temperature >38°C or <35°C, heart rate >90 beats/min, respiratory rate >20 breaths/min or PCO2 < 32 mmHg, and WBC > 12000 cells/mm³ or <4000 cells/mm³ (25-27). In 2016, the diagnosis of sepsis changed, which depends on new criteria that focus more on organ dysfunction (21). The Sequential Organ Failure Assessment score (SOFA) is now used for sepsis identification and organ dysfunction (28). Based on the qSOFA score there is no severe sepsis, the categories changed to infection, sepsis and septic shock. Patients with sepsis should have an infection and at least two of the qSOFA criteria (29, 30). The SOFA score is (0-3) and consists of three criteria including respiratory rate, change in mental status, and systolic blood pressure. Organ dysfunction determines by the level of these criteria. Sepsis includes both pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory responses which are responsible for the early death of sepsis (31). Receptors on the innate immune cell surface such as toll-like receptors (TLRs) recognize bacteria and stimulate innate immune cells to produce IL6, interleukin- 1β , and tumour necrosis factor (TNF). Systemic inflammatory response produces by these pro-inflammatory cytokines. The pro-inflammatory response was thought to drive early mortality in the first several days of sepsis, while the antiinflammatory response was thought to induce organ failure, immune suppression, and then mortality (32). The balance between pro-inflammatory and antiinflammatory mediators restricts the inflammation response to the local site of infections.

Pathogenesis of sepsis

2020

Sepsis develops when the infection causes a local inflammatory reaction. Bacterial infections are common causes of sepsis (33, 34). However, viruses and fungi can also cause sepsis (35, 36). The septic process initiates when the pathogen enters the host and pathogen-pathogen associated molecule (PAMPs) interact with pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) (37, 38). Pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) activate immune cells (39, 40) and present on pathogens, including lipopolysaccharide (LPS) in gram-negative bacteria, peptidoglycans, and lipoteichoic in Gram-positive bacteria and double-strand RNA in viruses (41). Gram-negative bacteria produce endotoxin, which is also known as lipopolysaccharide, is the major component of the cell membrane of gram-negative bacteria, mediated the activation of innate immune cells such as neutrophils, monocytes, lymphocyte, and macrophage. LPS binds to the CD14/TLR4/MD2 receptor and MyD88, leading to an oxidative reaction of nuclear factor-kB (NF-kB) (42). PAMPs and DAMPs are recognized by cells of the innate immune system via pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs) (41, 43, 44). Binding between PARs and PAMPs leads to activation of the immune system and then releases several pro-inflammatory mediators including IL6, TNF- α , IL1, high mobility group box-1 (HMGB-1) and, platelet-activating factor (PAF) (45, 46). TNF- α triggers the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines (47), also causes tissue damage (48). Some of the isolated gram-positive bacteria in sepsis are Staphylococcus aureus, Streptococcus pyogenes, Escherichia coli, Pseudomonas aeruginosa (49). Exotoxins of streptococci and enterotoxin of staphylococcus induce TNF- α production and caused toxic shock in staphylococcus and streptococcus infections (50). While in fungal infections like LPS, TLR4 binds to the fungal proteins resulting in the production of pro-inflammatory mediators (51). Understanding the pathogenesis of sepsis will be an important first step to improve the survival rate of septic patients.

Neutrophil in sepsis-induced lung injury

While neutrophils consider the first line of defense in innate immunity, neutrophil activation causes tissue damage as well as organ failure in severe sepsis (52, 53). Bacterial infections of the lungs and abdomen are the most common causes of sepsis and often results in acute lung injury (ALI) (54), which is a critical factor for the mortality of septic patients (55). ALI is characterized by neutrophil infiltration,

acute lung inflammation with tissue injury, increased endothelial permeability, pulmonary edema, and respiratory failure. One study reported that migration of neutrophil into the extravascular space and tissue occurs at least two sequential events (56). The first event is the neutrophil activation followed by neutrophil recruitment. ALI initiates when chemoattractant signals such as TNF- α , IL-8, IL-1 recruit neutrophil to the site of infection (57, 58). Recruited neutrophil caused damage tissue by release of reactive oxygen species (59). There are two forms of ALI, primary acute lung injury which is caused by direct injury to the lung (e.g., pneumonia) and, secondary acute lung injury which is caused by an indirect insult (e.g., pancreatitis) (60, 61).

Neutrophil recruitment

Neutrophils are the first responding immune cells that recruited to the site of infection in response to chemotactic mediators (62), including IL-8, CXCL1, and CXCL2 which are consider as key mediators of neutrophil mobilization (63). Neutrophils play an important role in the pathogenesis of sepsis, as well as are essential for host defence against bacteria (64). The process of chemotaxis controlled by multiple intracellular pathways (65). Leukocyte accumulation is a multistep process (rolling-adhesionemigration) (66), mediated by specific adhesion molecule expressed on endothelial cells and leukocytes (67), which can be grouped into following category: 1) Selectins (P-, E-, and L-selectin), 2) Integrins (β2-family CD11/CD18), 3)Adhesion molecule (ICAM-1, VCAM-1, and junctional adhesion molecule). Leukocyte rolling is supported by the selectin family, which interact with their glycoprotein counterligands (68). P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 (PSGL-1) is one of the selectin counterreceptor, which binds to P-selectin and E-selectin (69, 70). Leukocytes express β 2integrin, which mediates the adhesion of leukocyte to the endothelial cells. Initially, circulating neutrophil form L-selectin and $\beta 2$ integrin-mediated interaction on the luminal face of the wall of post-capillary venule (71). This is induced by cytokine e.g. TNF- α which causes up-regulation of P-selectin, E-selectin, and integrin ligands including ICAM1. Several pro-inflammatory mediators like TNF-a and histamine have been shown to regulate rolling by controlling the regulation of P-selectin (72). Up-regulation of P-selectin and E-selectin on the surface of endothelial cells enables binding with their ligands expressed on neutrophils, such as P-selectin glycoprotein ligand 1 (PSGL1), which allow the tethering of circulating neutrophils to the postcapillary veins (73). Due to this binding they can move along the endothelium, a process called rolling (74). The interaction of lymphocyte function-associated antigen 1 (LFA-1) and membrane activate complex 1 (MAC-1) with intracellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1) and ICAM-2 expressed on the vessel walls contribute to the firm adhesion between rolling neutrophils and the endothelial cells (12, 75, 76). The β 2- integrin expressed on the leukocyte surface, it is low under normal condition while up-regulating after activation (77). The interaction between β 2-integrins and ICAMs has been reported in several studies (78, 79), which mediate firm leukocyte adhesion in the inflammatory response. Transmigration is the last phase of the neutrophil recruitment, where neutrophils pass through the junctions of the endothelium (80, 81).

Neutrophil extracellular traps in sepsis

Neutrophil extracellular traps were discovered more than a decade ago (16). Zychlinsky and his colleagues found that neutrophil uses an enzyme called neutrophil elastase to eliminate bacteria. By a deeper study of the mechanism, they observed that activated neutrophil kill's bacteria by the release of NETs. Today, it is widely accepted that NETs have both protective and pathological impacts in many inflammatory diseases including sepsis (16, 82). Neutrophil attack invading pathogens after recruitment to the site of infection by releasing antimicrobial peptide and ROS production followed by phagocytosis (83). In addition, activated neutrophil can expel nuclear DNA to form a web-like structure containing granular and cytoplasmic proteins as well as histones, which are referred to as neutrophil extracellular traps (16, 82). It has been reported that NETs formation causes tissue injury in models of inflammation and infections (19, 84). Moreover, NETs provoke several pro-inflammatory effects in the blood (17), pancreas (85), liver (86) as well as lung (87). However, MPO plays an important role in neutrophil antimicrobial response and it has been reported that neutrophil from deficient MPO failed to form NETs in the inflammatory disease (88, 89). In vitro study revealed critical steps of NET formation (16, 90). Peptidylarginine deiminase enzyme mediates citrullination by converting arginine to citrulline in certain proteins, such as histories (91-93). Peptidyl arginine deiminase 4 (PAD4) is a human protein that is encoded by PAD4 gene. PAD enzyme mediates citrullination which converts arginine to citrulline in certain proteins, including histones. (91). There are five known PAD (PAD1-PAD4 and PAD6) (94-96). The enzyme peptidyl arginine deaminase (PAD4) which participates in the NET formation and play a key regulator during this process by converting arginyl residues in the histone of chromatin to citrulline. (97). PAD4 is highly expressed in neutrophils. Mice lacking PAD4 are unable to form neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) in response to activation (98).

c-Abl kinase in inflammation

c-Abelson (c-Abl) kinase is a nonreceptor tyrosine-protein kinase ubiquitously expressed in mammalian cells and was initially identified as a potent driver of myeloid cell transformation (99). Studies have shown that c-Abl kinase plays a key role in neutrophil accumulation by regulating β 2-integrin-mediated neutrophil migration (100). Moreover, inhibition of c-Abl kinase activity has been reported to reduce endotoxin-induced neutrophilia and tissue damage in the lung (101). Subsequent data demonstrated that c-Abl kinase had a role in inflammatory disease, including immunoglobulin-mediated glomerular damage, nephrotoxicity, and endotoxin-induced vascular leakage (102). It is interesting to note that c-Abl kinase has been suggested to regulate ROS generation in neutrophils (103), and ROS has been shown to be involved in the expulsion of NETs from neutrophils (104). c-Abl kinase also regulates critical components of inflammation, such as endothelial cell integrity and neutrophil adhesion (105). c-Abl kinase plays an important role in neutrophils function and in different models of inflammation and the role of c-Abl kinase in NET formation and tissue damage in inflammatory disease.

MicroRNAs and miR-155

MicroRNA (miRNAs) are small 22-25 noncoding nucleotide RNAs that play a significant role in post-transcriptional gene regulation through complementary base pairing to the 3' UTR of target mRNA (106). It is known to regulate cytoplasmic control of mRNA translation and degradation. miRNAs are produced from transcription, then miRNA precursors are processed to mature miRNA in two steps involving the RNase III family enzymes Drosha and Dicer. First processing the miRNA by Drosha in the nucleus to create precursor miRNA, which is exported to the cytoplasm by exportin-5, then undergo the final processing by Dicer complex followed by integrated into the RISC (RNA-induced silencing complex). This process is mediated by argonaute-2 protein (Ago-2) is found in RISC complexes. Several studies have shown that miRNA play important role in pathogenesis including systemic inflammatory and sepsis (107, 108). Several studies have been reported that miR-155 plays a critical role in the various physiological and pathological processes such as inflammation, cancer, haematopoietic lineage differentiation, and cardiovascular disease. Moreover, miR-155 plays an important function as a protective miRNA that locally down-regulated expression of certain MMPs, thus controls tissue damage during inflammation. The functional role of miRNA in the immune system is mostly focused on neutrophil regulation (109). Recently, one study reported the role of miRNA in NETs formation (110), while another study showed negative regulation of neutrophil migration toward chemotactic stimuli (111).

Cellular microparticles

Microparticles (MPs) are small sphere-shaped intact vesicles, originating from the cell membrane of activated cells such as platelets, endothelial cells, leukocytes, and erythrocytes with a size less than 1 μ m (112). MPs consist of the same composition of the mother cells. For example, both activated neutrophils and neutrophil-derived MPs express a high level of Mac-1 (113). Many studies have shown that the numbers of MPs increase during inflammation (114-119), which are evidence for the potential role of MPs in disease pathogenesis. In response to external stimuli, neutrophil-derived MPs generate pro-inflammatory compounds, such as reactive oxygen species (120). Some previous studies reported the interaction between MPs and extracellular DNA (121) and form complex with NETs via histone-phosphatidylserine interaction (113). It is known that NETs cause tissue damage in both infectious and non-infectious diseases (17, 85). The numbers of MPs shedding from granulocyte and platelet are reported to be elevated in sepsis patients (114).

Treatment of sepsis

Sepsis is a major cause of mortality in the intensive care unit (ICU) (122). Early diagnostic and rapid therapy improve the outcome and reduce the death rate in sepsis (123), which is the primary way of treatment in hospitals. There is no specific treatment for sepsis, since the level of sepsis varies including differences in source and different degrees of inflammation, using the same treatment will not exert a beneficial effect, therefore sepsis management focusing more on the diagnosis. International guidelines for the management of sepsis and the Centres of Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) recommend the earlier identification of sepsis for better and quick treatment of sepsis (124, 125). The recognition of sepsis requires clinicians to measure some parameters including, the level of serum lactate, amount of fluids in the body, the blood culture. Many therapies showed interesting results, this includes antibiotics, fluid, and surgical interventions, haemodialysis of the kidney, mechanical ventilation in the lung and, a low dose of corticosteroid (126, 127). Despite many therapies, the mortality rate in the ICU remains high. Therefore, there is an urgent need of septic research both in experiment and in clinical setups.

Aims

Paper I. To examine the role of c-Abelson (c-Abl) kinase in NET formation and inflammation in abdominal sepsis.

Paper II. To investigate the role of miR-155 in NET formation in vitro.

Paper III. To study whether miR-155 has a role in NET formation in a mouse model of sepsis.

Paper IV. To examine the role of NET-MP aggregates in leukocyte recruitment in vivo and to determine the adhesive mechanisms mediating leukocyte-endothelium interaction and recruitment in response to NET-MP aggregates.

Material and methods

Contents

- Animals
- Experimental sepsis model
- Systemic leukocyte count
- Lung edema and BALF
- Myeloperoxidase activity
- Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)
- Isolation of bone marrow and blood neutrophils
- NETs detection in vivo
- NETs formation in vitro and NET quantification
- ROS formation in neutrophil
- Flow cytometry
- Western blot
- Confocal microscopy
- Transmission electron microscope and scanning electron microscope
- Cremaster muscle preparation
- Lung IVM
- Assessment of cytotoxicity
- Viability assay
- Histology
- Bacterial culture
- Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR)
- MicroRNAs transfection
- Bioinformatics analysis of binding sites
- RNA immunoprecipitation RIP assay

Animals

All experiments were performed using male C57BL/6 or miR-155 gene-deficient mice (20 to 25g body weight). The Regional Ethical Committee for Animal Experimentation at Lund University, Sweden has approved the study protocol (Permit number: M136-14 and 5.8.18-08769/2019., Animal were housed on an animal facility where standardized condition were maintained throughout the 12-12 h light-dark cycle. All animal placed in cage and provided standard laboratory diet and purified water ad libitum.

Experimental sepsis model

Abdominal sepsis was induced by puncture of cecum. Briefly, animals were anesthetized with ketamine and xylazine. The lower part of abdomen was shaved, and midline incision was made. The feces were pushed from ascending colon to the lower part of the cecum, ligated 75% by 5-0 silk suture, and then soaked with PBS. After ligature two puncture was made with a 21-gauge needle. The cecum was then relocated to the peritoneal cavity and the abdominal incision was sutured. Sham mice underwent the identical laparotomy without puncture and ligation. Mice then returned to their cages and immediately injected with pain killer subcutaneously, food and water were provided sufficiently. Animals were re-anesthetized for sample collection at 6 and 24 h after CLP induction. Blood was collected from inferior vena cava for later flow cytometric analysis and plasma was acquired by centrifugation and frozen at -20°C for CXCL1, CXCL2, and IL-6. The lower part of the left lung was ligated and excised for edema measurement. In total 3 ml of BAL fluid was collected from lungs using syringe and catheter and PMNLs were counted using Burker chamber. Next, the lung was perfused with PBS to remove the blood from the blood vessels, one lobe of right lung was fixed in formaldehyde for histology and the other lobe was quickly frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C for later assays.

Systemic Leukocyte counts

Blood sample were collected from tail vein. Total leukocyte count (monomorphonuclear (MNL) and polymorphonuclear (PMNL) were performed in Burker chamber using Turk's solution (0.2 mg gentian violet in 1 ml glacial acetic acid, 6.25% vol/vol) in a 1:20 dilution.

Lung Edema and Broncheoalveolar

To quantify the lung edema in CLP mice, left lung was collected, rinsed in PBS and snap-dried by paper then weighted and recorded as wet weight. The tissue allowed to dry by incubation in 60 for 72 h and re-weighted (dry weight). Lung edema was calculated for each sample by wet/dry weight. BALF was collected by inserting catheter in the trachea and 1 ml of PBS containing 5 mM EDTA was injected 3 times. The sample were centrifuged, then the number of PMNL cells were counted in a Burker chamber.

Myeloperoxidase activity

MPO is an enzyme abundantly present in the azurophilic granules of the neutrophils. For quantitative measurement of MPO activity, lung tissue harvested and homogenised in 1 ml of 0.5% hexadecyltrimethylammonium bromide, then the homogenised tissue samples were kept in the freezer for overnight. Next day, frozen samples are thawed and sonicated. The supernatant were used to determine MPO activity my using TMB substrate. The absorbance of the redox reaction by H2O2 was determined suing a colorimeter in 450 nm wavelength light, with reference filter 540 nm at 25°C. Values were presented as MPO unit/g tissue.

Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)

CXCL1, CXCL2, and IL6 level were detected in the supernatant of lung tissue samples. Briefly, samples were homogenised then centrifuged to collect the supernatant. Cytokine levels in the supernatant were detected using commercial ELISA kits (R&D Systems, Abingdon, UK) according to the manufacturer instructions. For detection of cytokine in blood samples, blood was collected from inferior vena cava (1:10 acid citrate dextrose) and centrifuged at 14,000 RPM for 10 min 4°C and stored at -20°C until use. Plasma levels of CXCL1, CXCL2, and IL6 were quantified by using a commercially available ELISA kit (R&D System). Recombinant CXCL1, CXCL2, and IL6 were diluted in a specific diluent provided by the ELISA kit and used to make standard curves.

Isolation of bone marrow and blood neutrophil

Bone marrow neutrophils were isolated from male C57BL/6 or mir-155 genedeficient mice were euthanized by careful dislocation of the epiphysis. Muscles were removed from legs, femurs and tibia were flushed with a 25-gauge needle with a 2 ml syringe containing Roswell Park Memorial Institute medium 1640 (RPMI 1640, Invitrogen, Stockholm, Sweden) containing 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS, Invitrogen) and 2 mM EDTA (Sigma-Aldrich, Stockholm, Sweden). Blood were obtained from normal mice (1:10 acid citrate dextrose) from vena cava. Blood samples were added to RPMI 1640. Red blood cells were lysed with 5 ml ice-cold 0.2% NaCl for 45 s followed by addition of 5 ml 1.6% NaCl. Neutrophils were isolated from other blood cells using Ficoll-Paque gradient (GE Healthcare, Uppsala, Sweden) and centrifugation. The layer containing neutrophils was collected and washed with RPMI 1640 and finally isolated neutrophils were suspended at 5×10^6 cells/ml.

NET detection in vivo

DNA-histone complexes were detected in plasma. A sandwich ELISA based on monoclonal antibodies directed against histones and DNA was used to detect the complexes according to the manufacturer's instructions (Cell Death Detection ELISA plus; Roche Diagnostics).

NET formation in vitro and NET quantification

Bone marrow neutrophils were freshly isolated from bone marrow by density gradient centrifugation using a Ficoll-Paque gradient (GH Healthcare). Neutrophils were incubated with PMA, MIP2, and β -glucan for NET formation. NETs adhered on the bottom of the wells were collected by pipetting and then isolated by gradient centrifugation. After centrifugation, supernatant were discarded and pelleted NETs were collected and resuspended in 300 ml PBS for detection of DNA-histone complex using sandwich ELISA as described above. By use of flow cytometry, we quantified the expression of MPO and citrullinated histone H3 on neutrophil.

Ros formation in neutrophils

For ROS generation, bone marrow isolated neutrophils were incubated with dihydrorhodamine 123 (Sigma) for 15 min at 37°C and then stimulated with 50 μ g/ml β -glucan for 20 min at 37°C, after that ROS generation were detected by flow cytometry.

Flow cytometry

In this thesis, I have used flow cytometry for the detection of the neutrophils in blood, ROS generation and neutrophil surface NETs markers. Samples were fixed with 2% formaldehyde for 10 min then washed twice with PBS containing 2% FBS, followed by incubation with primary antibodies against protein of interest in PBS containing 5% donkey serum. Cells were washed twice and incubated with secondary antibody specifically against primary antibodies. Flow cytometry analysis was performed on a CytoFLEX flow cytometer (Becton Dickinson, Mountain View, CA, USA) and histograms were made using cell-Quest Pro software (BD Biosciences).

Western blot analysis

This technique is used for the detection and quantification of a certain protein after various treatments. Isolated neutrophil from blood or bone marrow were homogenized in ice-cold RIPA buffer (RIPA lysis and extraction buffer, Thermo Fisher, USA) containing protease inhibitors (Halt Protease Inhibitor Cocktail; Pierce Biotechnology, Rockford, IL), cells were sonicated and stored at -20° C. Protein concentration were determined before heating up to near boiling for a few minutes. Proteins (20 µg) were loaded per lane then transferred onto polyvinylidene fluoride membrane (Novex, San Deigo, CA, USA). Before blotting, total protein gel images were taken. The membrane is then blocked to avoid non-specific binding before adding the primary antibody against the protein of interest and allowed to be incubated for 24 h. Secondary horseradish peroxidase (HPR) linked antibody specifically against the primary antibody is allowed to incubate for 2 h. Each target protein band was normalized against the total protein load of sample lane. Bio-Rad ChimiDocTM MP imaging system was used to detect the bands and LabTM software version 5.2.1 was used for analysing.

Confocal microscopy

In this thesis, I have used confocal microscopy to detect NETs in vitro. Neutrophils seeded over coverslip in 24 a 24 well plate, PMA or MIP-2, neutrophils washed and fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde for 10 min at room temperature, for intracellular staining cells were permeabilized with 0.1% Triton X-100, and washed, then blocked with 1% BSA for 45 min, followed by incubation with specific primary antibodies FITC-conjugated anti-mouse MPO antibody and rabbit anti-mouse citrullinated anti-H3 antibody for 2 h. Coverslips were collected and rinsed with distal water to remove residual salts and then incubated with DAPI or Hoechst 33342 (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Confocal microscopy was performed using LSM 800 confocal (Carl Zeiss, Jena, Germany). Images were acquired by using ×63 oil immersion objective (numeric aperture = 1.25). The pinhole was set to -1 airy unit and the scanning frame was set to 1024×1024 pixels. ZEN2012 software was used for final image preparation.

Transmission electron microscope and scanning electron microscope

Lung tissue samples were first deparaffinized, or bone marrow neutrophils were stimulated with PMA. After that both samples were fixed in 2.5% glutaraldehyde 0.15 mol/L sodium cacodylate, pH7.4 (cacodylate buffer), for 30 min at room temperature. Specimens were washed with cacodylate buffer. Samples were then dehydrated an ascending ethanol series from 50% (vol/vol) to absolute ethanol (10 min/step). Then, specimens were dried to critical point in carbon dioxide, with absolute ethanol as intermediate solvent, mounted on aluminium holders, and finally sputtered with 20 nm palladium/gold. Jeol/FEI XL 30 FGE scanning electron microscope was used to take images at the Core Facility for Integrated Microscopy at Panum Institute (University of Copenhagen, Denmark). The location of the individual target molecule was analysed at high resolution using ultrathin sectioning and transmission immunoelectron microscopy. Specimens were then embedded in Epon 812 and sectioned into a 50-nm-thick ultrathin section with a diamond Knife using an ultramicrotome. For immunohistochemistry, sections were incubated overnight at 4°C with primary antibody against elastase (ab68672, 10 µg/ml, Abcam, Cambridge, UK) and citrullinated histone H3 (ab5103, 10 µg/ml, Abcam, Cambridge, UK) in paper 1 and 3, or against Mac-1, citrullinated histone H3 and HMGB1 (Abcam, Cambridge, UK) in paper 4. Controls without primary antibody were also included. The grids then were incubated with gold-conjugated speciesspecific secondary antibodies (Electron Microscopy Sciences, Fort Washington, MD). Finally, the sections were post-fixed in 2% glutaraldehyde and post stained with 2% uranyl acetate and lead citrate. Joel/FEI CM100 transmission electron microscope operated at 80-kV accelerating voltage was used to observe the specimens at the Core facility for Microscopy at Panum Institute.

Cremaster muscle preparation

Cremaster muscle of mice was prepared for intravital microscopy to study the cremaster microvasculature. The surgical procedure was performed on a transparent pedestal by a midline incision of the skin and foscia, and incised tissue were retracted to expose the cremaster muscle, then separated from the epididymis and the testis was pushed back to the side of the preparation. The preparation was performed on a transparent pedestal allowing transillumination and microscopic observations of the cremaster muscle microcirculation after a 10-min equilibration time. Intrascrotal injection of NETs (0.5-4.5 μ g) and TNF- α (0.5 μ g, R & D Systems Europe, Ltd., Abingdon, Oxon, U.K.) diluted in 0.15 mL PBS was performed at 3 h before microscopic observation. To delineate the role of the selectins and integrin in leukocyte-endothelium interactions, monoclonal antibodies directed against Pselectin (2 mg/kg, clone RB40.34, rat IgG, BD Biosciences, San Diego, CA, U.S.A), PSGL-1 (2 mg/kg, clone 2PH1, rat IgG, BD Biosciences), Mac-1 (4 mg/kg, clone M1/7, rat IgG, BD Biosciences Pharmingen) and LFA-1 (4 mg/kg, clone M17/4, rat IgG, BD Biosciences) as well as a control antibody (clone R3-34, rat IgG1, BD Biosciences) were given IV immediately before intrascrotal administration of NETs. In separate experiments, monoclonal antibodies against HMGB1 (0.4 mg/kg, clone DPH 1.1, mouse IgG, HMGBiotech, Milano, Italy), TLR2 (1 mg/kg, clone T 2.5, mouse IgG, Biolegend, London, U.K) and TLR4 (2 mg/kg, clone MTS510, rat Biolegend) were administered IV immediately before intrascrotal IgG, administration of NETs. All animals were randomized for treatment.

Lung IVM

Leukocyte-endothelium interactions and leukocytes flux was observed in cremaster microcirculation using an Olympus microscope (BX50WI, Olympus Optical Co. GmbH. Hamburg, Germany) equipped with water immersion lenses (40/NA 0.75 and 63/NA 0.90). The microscopic image was recorded in a computer using a

charge-coupled device video camera (FK6990 Cohu, Pieper GmbH, Berlin, and Germany) for subsequent off-line analysis. Analysis of leukocyte flux and leukocyte-endothelium interactions (rolling and adhesion) were made in venules (inner diameter between 20 and 40 μ m) with stable resting blood flow. Rolling leukocyte flux was determined at indicated time points by counting the number of rolling leukocyte per 20 s passing a reference point in the microvessel and expressed as cells per min. leukocyte rolling velocity was determined by calculating the velocity of 10 leukocytes rolling along the endothelial cell lining and given as µm s-1. Leukocyte adhesion in venules (stationary for 20 s) was counted 100 µm long vascular segments and expressed as the number of adhered cells per mm2. Leukocyte emigration was quantified by counting by the number of extravascular leukocytes within an extravascular area of $100 \times 70 \,\mu\text{m}$ immediately adjacent to the venules. And expressed as the number of extravascular cells per mm². Diameters were measured in micrometers perpendicularly to the vessel path. Microvascular hemodynamic were determined after injection of 0.1 ml 5% FITC- dextran (MW 150 000, Sigma-Aldrich, Stockholm, Sweden) for contrast enhancement by intravascular staining of plasma and cremaster muscle was visualized by a 100-W mercy lamp and filter set for blue (450-490 nm excitation and >520 nm emission wavelength) and green (530-560 nm excitation; >580 nm emission) blight epiillumination. Computer-assisted image analysis using the line shift method was used to measure flow velocity. Venular wall shear rate was calculated using the Newtonian definition: wall shear rate = 8 (red blood cell velocity/ venular diameter) (House et al., 1987). All quantitative analysis of micro hemodynamic parameters in the cremaster microcirculation was performed by using the computer-assisted image analysis system Caplmage (Zeintl, Heidelberg, Germany).

Assessment of cytotoxicity

Lactate dehydrogenase LDH is an enzyme found in all living cells. High level of Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) indicate tissue damage, Therefore LDH was used as an indicator for cytotoxicity. To examine the cytotoxicity of translation inhibitor we used different concentration. Cells were pre-incubated with 1, 10, 200, and 500 μ g/ml cycloheximide and puromycin for 30 min. After that cells were stimulated with PMA for 3 h (same as other experiments) at 37°C. After the experiment supernatants were collected and activity of LDH in the medium was determined by using LDH cytotoxicity Clorometric Assay Kit II according to the manufacturer's instructions. Percentage of toxicity was calculated using the following formula:

(Test sample-Low control)/ (High control-Low control). Absorbance in the samples without any drug was considered as a low control and absorbance from lysed samples was considered as a high control.

Viability assay

Cell viability was performed on neutrophil and assessed by using trypan blue dye exclusion assay. Transfected neutrophils were collected by low-speed centrifugation. Viability assay was performed by adding equal volume of samples and trypan blue dye. The percentage of viable cells were estimated by Burker chamber.

Histology

Lung samples were fixed in 4% formaldehyde phosphate buffer overnight and then dehydrated. After dehydration samples were embedded in paraffin and then cut into six µm sections and stained with hematoxylin and eosin. Lung injury was quantified in a blinded manner by using a modified scoring system, including alveolar collapse, thickness of alveolar septae, alveolar fibrin deposition, and neutrophil infiltration graded on a zero (absent) to four (extensive) scale. In each tissue sample, 5 random areas were scored, and the mean value was calculated. The histology score is the sum of all parameters.

Bacterial cultures

To evaluate the bacterial clearance, 24 hours after CLP Inferior vena cava blood was taken. Sample were diluted using a serial logarithmic manner. Blood samples were cultured on trypticase soy agar II with 5% sheep blood (Becton Dickinson GmbH, Heidelberg, Germany). Plates were incubated at 37 °C for 24 hrs in aerobic condition and colonies counted. The systemic bacterial load was presented as the number of CFU ($\times 10^5$) per ml of blood.

Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR)

For gene expression studies, we have used qRT-PCR. The total RNA of neutrophil from different experimental settings was isolated and followed by concentration and purity determination using the NanoDrop spectrophotometer at 260 nm absorbance. Reverse transcription was conducted using a (0.1-2.5 μ g) of total RNA. QRT- PCR was conducted using SYBER Green dye. The mRNA reference sequence was used to design primers using web-based primer design tools of the national centre of biotechnology information. The primers sequences used in this study are listed in (Table 2). Relative expression to control house-keeping gene U6 and GAPDH were determined using 2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ CT} methods.

MicroRNA transfection

Isolated neutrophils (5×10^6 cells) were seeded in a six-well plate in 2 ml of DMEM containing 10% FBS and 20 ng/ml recombinant mouse G-CSF. Cells were transfected after 3h with mmu-miR-155-5p mimic (50 nM), Ctrl-Mimic, antagomiR-155-5p (50 nM) or ctrl-antagomiR (50 nM) for 24 h in Opti-MEM reduced serum media according to manufacturer's instructions.Twenty-four hours post-transfection , cells were washed and lysed for RNA extraction or harvested for further experiments. Transfection efficiency was confirmed by quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR).

Bioinformatics analysis of binding sites

Target prediction algorithm was done using RNAhybrid web-based bioinformatics. The binding site for miR-155-5p at the 3'-UTR of PAD4 mRNA was identified for experimental validation (http: bibiserv.techfak.uni-bielefeld.de/rnahybrid). However, based on evidence of AU-rich elements (AREs) it is known that miR-155-5p plays a critical role in the regulation of certain important proteins by binding at ARE sites of mRNA, specially AUUA and AUUUA motifs and therefore our analysis was limited to these sites. We confirmed the functional role of this binding site by designing a target site blocker (TSB, 22 nucleotides sequence) which binds selectively to a sequence overlapping with the miR-155-5p ARE sites in the 3'-UTR of PAD4 mRNA. The blocker was a fully phosphorothiolated Locked Nucleic Acids (LNA) in the DNA sequences to increase their affinity and selectivity for the target. The TSB_PAD4_miR-155-5p; 5'-TTAATTTTTATTAAATATATAT-3' and TSB
negative Control _PAD4_miR-155-5p; 5'-TAACACGTCTATACGCCCA-3' were co-transfected with the miR-155-5p mimic in different concentration (12.5-50 nM) as described above. PAD mRNA levels were quantified using qRT-PCR. We validate the specific interaction between miR-155 and pad4 mRNA by using immunoprecipitation (RIP) assay.

RNA immunoprecipitation RIP assay

For experimental validation of miR-155p binding to PAD4 mRNA, RIP assay were performed to immune-precipitate Ago protein complex that contains functionally related miRNAs: mRNA complex using EZ-Magna RIP kit following the manufacture's protocol. Cells were scraped off 24 h after transfection with mmumiR-155-5p Mimic, Ctrl-Mimic, antagomiR-155-5p or ctrl-antagomiR. Cells were then lysed in complete RIP lysis buffer containing protease inhibitor cocktail, after which 100 µl of whole cell extract was incubated with RIP buffer containing magnetic beads conjugated with an anti-Ago2 antibody or ctrl-IgG antibody and rotated for 3 h at 4°C. After several washes, samples were incubated with proteinase K with shaking to digest proteins at 55°C. RNA was then isolated, and concentrations were measured using a NanoDrop spectrophotometer. The co-immunoprecipitated (co-IP) RNA, including microRNA: mRNA complexes, were analyzed by qRT-PCR to measure the potential association between miR-155 and PAD4 mRNA.

Statistics

Results were expressed as mean values \pm standard errors of means (SEM). Statistical evaluation for multiple comparism were performed using Kruskal-Wallis one-way analysis). For comparison of two groups Mann-Whitney rank-sum test was used. *P* values below 0.05 was considered statistically significant and n represent the number of animals or experiments in each group. Graphpad prism 8 software was used for data analysis.

Table 1. Histology scoring system

Alveolar space: Alveolar space were scored using medium power field 40X

- Score Definition
- 0 normal alveolar microarchitecture
- 1 occasional reduction of alveolar space
- 2 progressive reduction of alveolar space
- 3 diffuse of alveolar space
- 4 extensive destruction of tissue architecture

Thickness of the alveolar septa: The thickness of the alveolar septa were scored in oil emersion high power field

- Score Definition
- 0 thin alveolar septa
- 1 occasional thickening of alveolar septa
- 2 progressive thickening of alveolar septa
- 3 diffuse thickening of alveolar septa
- 4 massive thickening of alveolar septa

Fibrin deposition: The fibrin deposition within the alveolar space were scored in oil emersion high power field (HPF)

- Score Definition
- 0 absent of fibrin deposition within the alveolar space
- 1 occasional fibrin deposition within the alveolar space
- 2 progressive fibrin deposition within the alveolar space
- 3 diffuse fibrin deposition within the alveolar space
- 4 massive fibrin deposition within the alveolar space

PMN infiltration: Infiltrated PMN were counted in intestinal and intra alveolar space in high power field 100X (HPF)

- Score Definition
- 0 0-10 PMN cells
- 1 11-20 PMN cells
- 2 21-30 PMN cells
- 3 31-50 PMN cells
- 4 More than 50 PMN cells

Table 2. Primers sequence used for mRNAs chemokine receptors gene expression		
PAD4	Forward	5'-TGTGACCCGAAAGCTCTA-3'
	Reverse	5'-CTGCTGGAGTAACCGCTATT-3'
mmu-miR-	Forward	5'UUAAUGCUAAUUGUGAUAGGGGU-3'
155-5p		
ICAM-1	Forward	5'-AGCACCTCCCCACCTACTTT-3',
	Reverse	5'-AGCTTGCACGACCCTTCTAA-3'
U6	Forward	5'-GCTTCGGCAGCACATATACTA-3'
	Reverse	5'-CGAATTTGCGTGTCATCCTTG-3'
GAPDH	Forward	5'-CATGTTCGTCATGGGGTGAACCA-3',
	Reverse	5'-AGTGATGGCATGGACTGTGGTCAT-3'.

Results and Discussion

Role of c-Alb kinase in regulating NET formation and inflammation in abdominal sepsis

C-Abelson (c-Alb) kinase is a protein tyrosine kinase that regulates the signalling process in various health and diseases (128, 129). Several studies have shown that c-Alb kinase is involved in controlling cell growth, survival, adhesion and migration (130-132). In addition, it has been shown that c-Alb kinase participates in vascular leakage in sepsis (102). However, the role of c-Alb kinase in NETs formation in abdominal sepsis remains elusive.

In the first paper, we demonstrated that c-Alb kinase plays a critical role in NETs formation in septic lung injury. Thus, targeting c-Alb kinase activity decreased systemic inflammation in sepsis. Suggesting that c-Alb kinase plays a critical role in the development of abdominal sepsis. We asked whether c-Alb kinase is activated in abdominal sepsis. We checked the expression of c-Alb phosphorylation in circulating neutrophils in CLP mice, we found that c-Alb kinase enhanced phosphorylation in circulating neutrophil, while treatment with GZD824, a specific c-Alb kinase inhibitor, markedly decreased c-Alb kinase activation in circulating neutrophils, 24 h after CLP induction, suggesting that GZD824 is an effective inhibitor of c-Alb kinase in vivo (Figure 1).



Figure 1. c-Abl kinase activity in neutrophils. Phosphorylation of c-Abl kinase in circulating neutrophils were examined by western blot as described in Materials and Methods. Animals were treated with GZD824 (5 mg/kg) or vehicle prior to CLP induction. Mice treated with saline (sham) or GZD824 alone without CLP. Samples were collected 24 hours after induction of CLP. Data are presented as mean values \pm standard error of the mean (SEM) and n = 5. #P < 0.05 vs. Sham and *P < 0.05 vs. Vehicle + CLP.

Activated neutrophil expels neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs), composed of neutrophil-derived DNA forming extracellular web-like structures decorated with nuclear histories as well as granular and cytoplasmic proteins (16, 82). NETs is caused by uncontrolled inflammatory response during sepsis, which leads to the tissue damage (133, 134). However, mechanisms in regulating NETs expulsion in sepsis remain very elusive. Herein, we examined the role of c-Abl kinase in NETs formation and tissue damage in sepsis. We performed scanning electron microscopy and transmission immunoelectron microscopy to demonstrate the presence of NETs in the lung, we observed that CLP induced formation of extracellular fibrillary and web-like structure compatible with NETs (Figure 2A). In addition, transmission immunoelectron microscopy showed that neutrophil-derived granule protein elastase and citrullinated histone H3 co-localized with these extra fibrillary and web like structures (Figure 2B), while in the normal lung not observed. Interestingly, GZD824 greatly reduced generation of NETs in the septic lung (Figure 2 A, B). To further study the role of c-Abl kinase in NETs generation and whether directly regulates NET formation in neutrophil, we examined the level of DNA-histone complex in plasma and in neutrophils isolated from bone marrow which were stimulated with β -glucan, the results show that administration of GZD824 reduced NET formation in plasma and stimulated neutrophil (Figure 2 C,D). Upon activation neutrophil produce reactive oxygen species (135), which is involved in NETs formation (82, 136), it is interesting to know that c-Abl kinase has been implicated in the neutrophil formation of ROS (103). One study has shown that induction of ROS is pivotal in β -glucan-induced NET formation in neutrophil (137). In a separate in vitro study, flow cytometry used to detect ROS generation in neutrophils were incubated with dihyrorhodamine 123 for 15 min and then stimulated with 50 µg/ml β-glucan for 20 min 37°C. Co-incubation of neutrophil with GZD824 decreased βglucan-provoked generation of ROS in neutrophils. Thus, c-Abl kinase-dependent generation of ROS might be involved in β -glucan induced formation of NETs in neutrophils.



Figure 2. NET formation in sepsis. A) Scanning electron microscopy showing extracellular web-like structures in the lung from CLP mice. Scale bar = 5 μ m. B) Transmission electron microscopy of the indicated area of interest from Figure 2A. Scale bar = 0.25 μ m. All images are representative of five independent experiments. C) DNA-histone complex formation. Animals were treated with GZD824 (5 mg/kg) or vehicle prior to CLP induction. Mice treated with saline (sham) or GZD824 alone without CLP. Samples were collected 24 hours after induction of CLP. D) DNA-histone complexes in the supernatant determined by ELISA. NETs were generated from isolated neutrophils by β -glucan-stimulation, co-incubated with or without GZD824 (50 μ g/ml). Non-stimulated neutrophils served as a control. Data are presented as mean values \pm standard error of the mean (SEM) and n = 5. #P < 0.05 vs. Sham and *P < 0.05 vs. Vehicle + CLP.

Since neutrophil infiltration consider as a key factor of sepsis-induced lung injury (75) we tested whether c-Abl kinase affects neutrophils infiltration in the lung, the result shows that blocking c-Abl kinase decreases total PMNL in the BALF (Fig 3A) and CXCL1 CXCL2 lung (Figure 3B, C). Additionally, blocking c-Abl kinase decreased sepsis-induced edema in the lung (Figure 3D). In histological analysis, we observed that CLP induced pulmonary injury, characterized by destruction of tissue microarchitecture, edema of interstitial tissue, and neutrophil infiltration, which were minimizing by administration of GZD824 (Figure 3E-H). These finding

are in line with the observations that CLP-evoked lung damage was reduced in GZD824-treated animals.



Figure 3. c-Abl kinase regulates CLP-induced infiltration of neutrophils in the lung. A) number of BALF neutrophils were determined 24 h after CLP induction. Pulmonary levels of B) CXCL1 and C) CXCL2. D) Level of edema. Representative haematoxylin & eosin sections of the lung. E) Animals were treated with saline or F) GZD824 alone. G) vehicle or H) treated mice. Data are presented as mean values \pm standard error of the mean (SEM) and n = 5. #P < 0.05 vs. Sham and *P < 0.05 vs. Vehicle + CLP.

Another marker for systemic inflammation is IL-6 which is an important proinflammatory cytokine. Several studies reported that IL-6 is an important mediator which markedly increased during sepsis (138-145). Herein, we show that inhibition of c-Abl kinase activity reduced plasma level of IL-6 in septic mice (Figure 4). These results may support the concept that inhibition of c-Abl kinase reduce systemic inflammation in sepsis. Our finding indicates the role of c-Abl kinase in NET generation in neutrophil and in septic lung injury. Targeting c-Abl kinase activity reduced pulmonary formation of CXC chemokines, neutrophil recruitment and tissue damage in lung. Finally, blocking c-Abl kinase activity decreased systemic inflammation. Thus, this study not only delineates a novel signalling mechanism regulating NET formation in sepsis but also suggests that blocking c-Abl kinase might be a useful strategy to ameliorate local and systemic inflammation in sepsis.



Figure 4. Plasma levels of IL-6. Animals were treated with GZD824 (5 mg/kg) or vehicle prior to CLP induction. Mice treated with PBS (sham) or GZD824 alone without CLP. Data are presented as mean values \pm standard error of the mean (SEM) and n = 5. #P < 0.05 vs. Sham and *P < 0.05 vs. Vehicle + CLP.

Role of miR-155 in regulating NET formation and inflammation

MicroRNAs are a small non coding RNA 21-25 nucleotides, which are involved in immune regulation by regulate gene expression in transcriptional and posttranscriptional levels (146). miR-155 is a multifunctional microRNA, like other miRNAs regulates gene expression and has a critical role in various pathological processes such as inflammation, immunity and viral infection (147-151). Many studies have demonstrated that several miRNA like miR-223, miR-142, and miR-451 regulate neutrophil functions (152), and one study reported that miR-146 regulates NETs formation (110). miR-155 plays an important role in the immune response (153). It has been shown that expression of miR-55 in NETs generation is unknown.

Based on these considerations we hypothesized that miR-55 might control NETs generation via regulating PAD4 function. In our experiment, three different methods were used to quantify NETs including DNA-histone complex assay, confocal

microscopy, and the surface expression of MPO and citrullinated histone H3 by flow cytometry. Herein, we showed for the first time that protein translation involved in NETosis. Pre-incubation of neutrophils with translational inhibitors cyclohexamide or puromycin 1 and 10 μ g/ml for 30 min markedly decreased PMA-induced generation of NETs (Figure 5B), while pre-incubation with 10 μ g/ml of translational inhibitors for 5 min had no effect (Figure 5B). In separate experiment, we found that translational inhibitors have the same effect in neutrophils exposed to MIP-2. Citrullinated histone H3 is a biomarker for NETs formation (154, 155). We examined the expression of MPO and citrullinated H3 on neutrophils using flow cytometry after stimulation with PMA for 24 hrs, we found that of MPO and citrullinated H3 is unregulated (Figure 5 C, D), and pre-incubation with 10 μ /ml translational inhibitors for 30 min reduced PMA and MIP-2 induced expression of MPO and citrullinated H3 on neutrophils.

Transfection process has no effect on cell viability after 24 h transfection. In addition to flow cytometry, confocal microscopy were used to detect MPO and histone H3, we observed that the MPO and citrullinated histone H3 increased in PMA stimulated neutrophil, while decreased in neutrophils stimulated with PMA pre-incubated with 10 μ g/ml of cycloheximide or puromycin for 30 min. The finding of our study are inconsistent with three other studies which they showed that protein translation is not involved in the NETs generation (93, 156, 157), which could be because a difference in methodology. Use of Sytox Green and orange as DNA binding dyes to measure NETs are fraught with significant drawbacks. Sytox green is a cell permeable dye and generates non-specific false positive fluorescence signal with respect to NETs generation as described by manufacturer (157), using just 100 nM of Sytox Green which is a 10-50 time lower concentration than those used in other studies (156), could be rapid and dose-dependent leakage into living cells. One study reported that actinomycin D had no effect on NET formation (156), while Khan et al found the effect of actinomycin D on NETs formation (158), which means opposite conclusion about role of transcription in NET formation. Moreover, pre-incubation of neutrophil with cyclohexamide for 5 min. and stimulation with PMA for 15 hours (156), considering with our results 5 min is too short time for translation inhibitors and 15 hours stimulation is too long time for stimulation, which might increase non-specific fluorescence signal. In this context, it has been shown that cycloheximide reduce endotoxin-induced deamination of histone H3 (93), which is consider as an important component in the process of NETs release.



Figure 5. NET formation in neutrophils. (A) Neutrophils were preincubated with 10 μ g/ml of cycloheximide or puromycin for 5–30 min and stimulated with PMA (500 nM) for 3 h at 37°C. (B) Neutrophils were preincubated with indicated concentrations of cycloheximide or puromycin for 30 min and stimulated with PMA (500 nM). DNA-histone complexes were quantified in supernatants by ELISA. (C) Levels of citrullinated Histone H3 and MPO in neutrophils (Ly6G+ cells) were determined by FACS. Neutrophils were preincubated with 10 μ g/ml of cycloheximide or puromycin for 30 min and stimulated with PMA (500 nM). (D) Aggregate data of flow cytometry. Data represent mean ± SEM and n = 5. #P < 0.05 vs. control and *P < 0.05 vs. vehicle.

PAD4 is essential in regulating NET formation (159). Interestingly we found that the level of PAD4 and mRNA increased in PMA-stimulated neutrophil. Therefore, we asked whether miR-155 regulate PAD4 expression in neutrophils, it was found that a mimic miR-155 transfected neutrophil increased PAD4 mRNA, while antagomiR-155 transfected neutrophils decreased PAD4 mRNA. In addition, transfection with mimic miR-155 or antagomiR-155 increased and decreased the level of DNA-histone complex, respectively as expected (Figure 6A, B). Moreover, the level of PAD4 protein and histone H3 were quantified by western blot analysis, we observed that transfection with mimic miR-155 had no effect on PAD4 and citrullinated histone H3 protein level in PMA stimulated neutrophil, while transfection with antagomiR markedly decreased the protein level of PAD4 and citrullinated histone H3 in PMA stimulated neutrophil, while transfection with antagomiR markedly decreased the protein level of PAD4 and citrullinated histone H3 in PMA stimulated neutrophil, while transfection with antagomiR markedly decreased the protein level of PAD4 and citrullinated histone H3 in PMA stimulated neutrophil, suggesting that miR-155 an important regulator of PAD4 mRNA. In addition, recently it has been shown that miRNAs are involved in NETs generation, that the level of cell-free DNA and citrullinated histone 3 increased in the neutrophils of miR146 gene-deficient mice (110).



Figure 6. Levels of DNA histone complexes in neutrophils transfected with (A) Ctrl Mimic or mir-155 mimic and (B) Ctrl-antagomiR or antagomiR-155-5p. Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM and n = 4–5 and represented as fold change. #P < 0.05 vs. control and *P < 0.05 vs. vehicle.

3'-UTR region of mRNA involved in positive regulation mRNA translation by miRs (147, 160, 161) RNA hybrid web-based bioinformatics target prediction algorithm (<u>http://bibiserv.techfak.uni-bielefeld.de/rnahybrid</u>) were performed to know if PAD4 is a direct target of miR-155. Herein, we focused in AU-rich elements in the 3'-UTR of mRNA, which plays important role in regulation and translation of mRNA (162-164), we found AREs binding site complementary to the seeding region of miR-155. Therefore, we have designed specific blocker targeting this site

by transfecting neutrophil with multiple doses of TSB. Interestingly, we found that transfection with specific blocker reduced mimic miR-155 induced expression of PAD4, indicating that this specific ARE region of 3'-UTR of PAD4 mRNA is a functional miR-155 target. Thus, this study identifies a new target site regulating translational activation of PAD4 mRNA by miR-155. These results are in line with another study reporting the role of miR-155 on RhoA gene expression and migration of colon cancer cells (165). It should be noted that miRs might act on multiple gene targets. Thus, RIP assay was performed to examine the potential association between miR-155 and PAD4, we found that neutrophils were enriched with PAD4 mRNA and miR-55, in the Ago2-containing miRNAs relative to control IgG immunoprecipitates (Figure 7 A, B). Altogether, these novel findings show that miR-155 regulates NETs formation via positive regulation of PAD4. However, existing evidence showed that AREs in the 3'-UTR of PAD4 mRNA plays a central role in mediating miR-155 induced PAD4 gene expression. These results could be potential strategies to prevent NET-dependent tissue damage in acute inflammation.



Figure 7. Neutrophils were transfected with ctrl-antagomiR, antagomiR-155-5p and then stimulated with or without PMA (500 nM). The amount of miR-155-5p and PAD4 mRNA were determined in input RNA by qRT-PCR in RIP assays. AntagomiR-155-5p decreased relative enrichment of (A) miR-155-5p and (B) PAD4 mRNA in Ago2 immunoprecipitates. Data are presented as fold change compared to anti-IgG ctrl. U6 and GAPDH were used as a house-keeping gene to normalize miR-155-5p and PAD4 expression, respectively. Relative expression was determined using $2-\Delta\Delta$ CT method. Data are expressed as mean ± SEM and n = 5. #P < 0.05 vs. control Ab and *P < 0.05 vs. anti-Ago2 Ab-Ctrl-antagomiR treated cells.

Role of miR-155 in regulating NET formation and lung injury in abdominal sepsis

Sepsis is a systemic inflammatory response syndrome caused by an uncontrolled host response to the infection (166). Neutrophils play an essential role in immune system and consider as a first line of immune defence against pathogen (167). More recently, it was reported that neutrophil can expel a chromatin structure called neutrophil extracellular traps (168), which is associated with several pathological conditions, and also mediated tissue damage in abdominal sepsis (169). miRNA play essential role in biological process by regulating mRNA expression (170, 171). miR-155 is one of the most important miRNA which involved in several immunological disease (172-174) and inflammation (175, 176). Since we have shown in our previous study that miR-155 regulates NET formation in vitro. Thus, we presume that miR-155 may regulate systemic inflammation and pulmonary injury in abdominal sepsis via regulating NET formation. Therefore, we used miR-155 deficient mice to study the role of miR-155 in NETs generation. First, we

wanted to investigate the role of miR-155 in regulating NET formation in neutrophil, we examine DNA histone complex, citrullinated histone H3 and neutrophil derived granule protein MPO in MIP2 stimulated neutrophil which markedly decreased in miR-155 gene-deficient neutrophils. By now, we were encouraged to study the role of miR-155 in regulating NET in vivo. Abdominal sepsis was induced in wild-type C57BL/6 and miR-155 gene-deficient mice by cecal ligation and puncture. NETs have been visualized by scanning electron microscopy and transmission electron microscopy. We observed that CLP-induced generation of NETs in the lung significantly decreased in miR-155 gene-deficient compare to the wild-type mice. We confirmed this finding by measuring DNA-histone complex, which were decreased in mice lacking miR-155 (Figure 8).



Figure 8. NET formation in sepsis. A) DNA-histone complexes in the plasma from wild-type and miR-155 gene-deficient mice. Samples were collected 24 hours after induction of CLP. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM and *n* = 5. $^{\#}P < 0.05 vs$. WT Sham and $^{*}P < 0.05 vs$. WT CLP.

PAD4 is indispensable in NETs formation (177) and mediated chromatin decondensation, which converts histone arginine to citrulline (91, 92). PAD4 is more expressed in neutrophils (97), and it has been shown that PAD4 regulates NET formation (98). PAD4 and citrullinated histone 3 expression were analysed by western blot. We detected a significant decrease of PAD4 and citrullinated histone 3 in septic mice lacking miR-155 vs septic wild-type mice. This result is in line with our previous study (178), showing that miR-155 regulate NET formation .via PAD4 mRNA. Herein, we observed that PAD4 and citrullinated H3 decreased in animals lacking miR-155, suggesting that miR-155 regulates histone citrullination is abdominal sepsis.

Misdirected neutrophil results in tissue injury and organ failure (179). Thus, we asked whether miR-155 is involved in CLP-provoked pulmonary injury. Morphological analysis demonstrated that CLP-induced severe pulmonary damage in wild type mice, characterized by alteration of microarchitecture of the lung massive neurophils infiltration (Figure 9C), while significantly decreased in miR-155 gene-deficient (Figure 9D). We also observed that CLP-induced lung edema decreased in miR-155 gene deficient mice, indicating that miR-155 mediates septic lung injury.



Figure 9. Lung injury. A-D) Representative haematoxylin & eosin sections of the lung from wild-type (WT) and miR-155 gene-deficient mice. Samples were collected 24 hours after induction of CLP. E) Aggregate data on lung injury score. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM and n = 5. #P < 0.05 vs. WT Sham and *P < 0.05 vs. WT CLP.

Neutrophil infiltration is another marker in the pathophysiology of septic lung injury (180, 181). Number of neutrophils in BALF were determined to investigate neutrophil accumulation in the lung. Number of BALF neutrophils were increased in CLP induced mice and decreased in miR-155 deficient mice, suggesting that miR-155 involved in pulmonary neutrophil in sepsis.

CXC chemokines including KC and MIP-2 chemokines secretion increased in the plasma and lung during sepsis (182), and they mediate neutrophil trafficking to the sites of inflammation (183-186). As expected, plasma and pulmonary level of KC and MIP-2 in wild-type septic mice was high (Figure 10A-D), and greatly reduced in septic mice lacking miR-155 (Figure 10A-D), indicating that miR-155 regulates CXC chemokine formation in the blood and lungs in sepsis, which helps to explain how miR-155 effects on neutrophil infiltration in septic lung damage.



Figure 10. Chemokine formation in sepsis. Pulmonary A-B) and plasma C-D) levels of CXCL1 and CXCL2 from wild-type (WT) and miR-155 gene-deficient mice. Samples were collected 24 hours after induction of CLP. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM and n = 5. #P < 0.05 vs. WT Sham and *P < 0.05 vs. WT CLP.

Mac-1 play important role in adhesion and accumulation of neutrophil in the lung (187, 188). The surface expression of Mac-1 on neutrophil changes upon activation from low avidity to the high avidity. Flow cytometry was used to measure the surface expression of Mac-1 on neutrophil. We found that Mac-1 expression increased in CLP animals, while markedly decreased in miR-155 deficient mice.

Indicating that miR-155 regulates neutrophil activation and Mac-1 expression in abdominal sepsis.

In summary, the current study shows the role of miR-155 in regulating pulmonary formation of NETs in abdominal sepsis. Lack of miR-155 decreased NETs generation and accumulation of neutrophils in septic lungs as well as decreased damage to the lung tissue. Thus, targeting miR-155 might be a useful target to reduce pulmonary damage in abdominal sepsis.

Role of NET-MP complexes in neutrophil recruitment

Herein, we examine the role of NETs-MPs aggregates in leukocyte recruitment in vivo. We studied leukocyte-endothelium interactions by use of intravital microscopy in the mouse cremaster microcirculation. The preparation of cremaster muscle was performed on a transparent pedestal allowing transillumination and microscopic observations of the cremaster muscle microcirculation after a 10-min equilibration time. In the present study, we found that the intrascrotal injection of NET-MP aggregates dose-dependently (0.5-4.5 µg) increase in firm leukocyte adhesion (Figure 11A and D). In contrast, NETs reduced leukocyte rolling velocity, while the number of rolling leukocytes did not increase. Additionally, we studied the number of extravascular leukocytes, we found that 1.5 and 4.5 μ g NETs increased leukocyte migration. Thus, we selected 1.5 µg NETs for further studies. We next asked whether TNF- α has the same effect. Similar to NETs, it was found that TNF- α stimulation has no effect on venular leukocyte rolling (Figure 11B), while the leukocyte rolling velocity reduced (Figure 11C), which is mediated by upregulation of endothelial adhesion molecules (189), as well as leukocyte adhesion and emigration.



Figure 11. NET-induced leukocyte recruitment in vivo. A) Intravital images of the cremaster microvasculature in response to vehicle, TNF- α , NET 0.5, 1.5 and 4.5. Leukocyte B) rolling flux C) rolling velocity D) adhesion and E) emigration in mouse cremaster muscle 3 hours after intrascrotal challenge with vehicle, TNF- α , NET 0.5, 1.5 and 4.5. Data are mean \pm SEM and n = 5. *P < 0.05 vs. Vehicle.

In this context, we wanted to know which leukocyte is responding to challenge with NETs. By using antibody against Ly-6G on neutrophil, we found that the numbers of neutrophil decreased by 99%. Interestingly, depletion of neutrophil abolished NET-induced leukocyte rolling, adhesion and migration, suggesting that neutrophils are the main leukocyte sub-type responding to NET challenge.

It has been shown in our experiment that pre-treatment with an antibody directed against P-selectin reduced NET-induced neutrophil rolling, firm adhesion as well as emigration. In addition, immunoneutralization of PSGL-1 decreased NET-evoked neutrophil rolling, adhesion and emigration. Next, we wanted to investigate the role of β 2-integrins in NET-triggered neutrophil accumulation, we found that administration of the antibody against Mac-1 reduced the number of firmly adherent and emigrated neutrophils in NET exposed tissues. Moreover, we found that

blocking LFA-1 had no effect on rolling, while NET-evoked neutrophil adhesion and extravasation decreased, suggesting that both these molecules involved in extravasation of neutrophils in NET-provoked inflammation. Our findings are further supported by other studies showing that LFA-1 and Mac-1 mediates leukocyte adhesion while having no effect on leukocyte rolling (190-196). During neutrophil activation, MPs form and bind to NETs forming NET-MP complex, which play important role in thrombin generation in sepsis (113). For NETs generation without microparticles, we pre-treated neutrophil with caspase and calpain inhibitors which resulted in formation of NETs depleted of MPs (113). Electron microscopy were used to confirm that co-incubation of stimulated neutrophil with caspase and calpain inhibitors resulting of NETs formation without MPs. In addition, we observed that, NETs without MPs attenuated neutrophil adhesion and emigration, and this reduction was similar as in DNase treatment, indicating that MPs attached to NETs have important role in NET-induced neutrophil recruitment. Thus, considering our finding that NET-MP complex are a potent inducer of neutrophils recruitment and might have effect on several neutrophil-dependent diseases, such as sepsis as well as acute pancreatitis (17, 85). HMGB1 is a ubiquitous protein present in both nuclei and cytoplasm of various cells like neutrophils, macrophage, and monocytes (197, 198), which releases to the extracellular space upon cell injury and acts as pro-inflammatory cytokine. HMGB1 involved in sepsis and causes organ failure (199-202). Then we asked whether NET-MPs contain HMGB1. By use of transmission electron microscopy, we found that NET-MPs express HMGB1. Moreover, we found that immunoneutralization of HMGB1 reduced adhesion and emigration of NET-induced neutrophil in vivo. Thus, we indicate that HMGB1 play an essential role in pro-inflammatory effects on NET-MP aggregates. TLR2, TLR4 and RAGE consider the main receptors of HMGB1 (203). Herein, we showed that inhibition of TLR2 and TLR4 markedly decreased the number of adherent neutrophils in response to NET-MP aggregate challenge, which indicate that both TLR2 and TLR4 signalling mediated NETtriggered neutrophil recruitment. This result is supported by another experiment showed that both TLR2 and TLR4 are critical for HMGB1-induced accumulation of stem cells along microvascular endothelial cells in vivo (204). Taken together, our findings clearly showed that NET-induced neutrophil recruitment is dependent on neutrophil-derived MPs expressing HMGB1 and mediated via TLR2 and TLR4 signalling in vivo. Blocking MP binding to NET or inhibition of HMGB1-TLR2/TLR4 axis might provide useful targets to reduce NET-dependent tissue damage in acute inflammation.

General discussion and future perspectives

Abdominal sepsis is an inflammatory disease that is associated with high morbidity and mortality. Specific treatment is currently lacking in part due to an incomplete knowledge of the mechanisms. Because of the complexity of the disease process, the treatment of abdominal sepsis is limited to antibiotics and supportive care. Emergence of antibiotic resistance bacterial also put a challenge on existing sepsis management practices. There are some specific treatments for specific population of the septic patients such as recombinant activated protein C, low dose corticosteroid, intensive insulin therapy, however, each of this therapy fail to improve survival rate more than 10% (205). When bacteria leak into the bloodstream, a systemic inflammation is induced which among other things, leads to inflammation and multiple organ failure importantly lung failure. Neutrophils are a type of white blood cell that have been shown to play a central role in the development of septic lung damage. As part of defense mechanism of the body, neutrophils secrete oxygen radicals and enzymes that cause pathological inflammation in the organs. Recently, it has been shown that neutrophils can also release so-called neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) and aggravate the overall inflammation (19). Several studies have shown that the numbers of MPs increase during inflammation (114, 119), suggesting that they might play important role in disease pathogenesis. The overall purpose of the current dissertation is to study how NETs are formed in abdominal sepsis and its significance in inflammation and lung damage.

To study the mechanisms of NETs formation and role of NETs-MPs in abdominal sepsis, we used a surgical technique called cecal ligation and Puncture (CLP). In this model, cecum is first ligated with a suture and then punctured twice to release intestinal contents into the abdominal cavity. Fecal bacteria stimulates local immune cells and release various inflammatory substances that in turn released into the circulation In addition, bacteria themselves can penetrate gut-blood barrier and initiate systemic inflammation (206). There are several experimental sepsis models such as endotoxemia and bacteremia models, colon ascendens stent peritonitis (CASP) model and CLP model, of which CLP is considered as gold standard because this model closely mimic the pathophysiology of intra-abdominal clinical sepsis in terms of early hyperdynamic phase and late hypodynamic phase of sepsis

(207). The major challenge in this model is the consistency or reproducibility. One paper described detail procedures to standardize the CLP method in which they described how length of ligated cecum, puncture size and fluid resuscitation could determine the grade and reproducibility of sepsis (208). Over the years, many different animal models of sepsis are used including non-human primates model. The translation of preclinical results from animal to human sepsis remains as a major challenge. There could be many different reasons, but one possible reason could be heterogeneity of septic populations in the emergency room of the clinic. Another possible reason could be rapid shifting of animal research to human trials without evaluating wide range of models. Mouse is one of the most widely used animal model for septic research. Mouse and human share 95% of protein coding genes (highly conserved), but non-coding genes and regulatory regions are less conserved. This notion underlines the importance of confirming our findings in other animal models, possibly to higher animals before translating laboratory results to clinical setup.

It has been established that neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) involved in the body's defense against pathogen by trapping microorganism, but also the excessive formation of NETs linked to numerus disease and contribute to the pathology of systemic inflammation. Thus, we believe that understanding the mechanism and targeting NET formation would be interesting strategy for such pathological conditions. In this dissertation, we showed that how c-Abl kinase regulates NETs formation and lung injury in abdominal sepsis. Our results indicate that targeting c-Abl kinase could be a useful strategy to inflammation and tissue damage in sepsis. We further dug into the mechanisms of NETs formation and our results show microRNA-155 plays a central role in the formation of NETs that also appears to be dependent on de novo protein synthesis. Inhibition of c-Abl kinase activity and inhibition of PAD4 function by microRNA-155 could be effective therapeutic strategy for the treatment of septic lung injury. In addition, our work shows that NETs form aggregates with MPs and they are functional in their ability to facilitate neutrophil recruitment in acute inflammation. NET-MP-induced neutrophil accumulation appears to be a result of HMGB1-TLR2/TLR4 signaling and blocking of this axis could also be a relevant target for the treatment of patients with abdominal sepsis. Our studies show the regulation and function of NETs, as well as the role of NETs in the pathogenesis of sepsis. Taken together, all results in this study have shown that controlling NETs might be useful to counteract the infectious disease.

Many successful preclinical anti-inflammatory and anti-coagulant therapies failed to show any promising results in the randomized human trials (209, 210). Sepsis usually manifest itself into many different processes within very short term, thus making the interventions difficult, indicating that much more preclinical research is required. The role of c-abl kinase signaling and translation of PAD4 in NETs formation has pointed out that several signaling pathways are at interplay in the development of abdominal sepsis. The interplay among other immune cells, microvascular of the organs and the coagulation system is beyond the scope of this thesis. Nevertheless, it should be noted that certain adhesion molecules expressed on the endothelial cells play a critical role in neutrophils adhesion and transmigration to the site of infection. Platelets are another important immune cell, which is capable of activating neutrophils directly and indirectly. Accumulating data also suggest that platelets can recruit neutrophil to the site of infection and facilitate NETs formation in various inflammatory diseases. Thus, it could be speculated that other host cells could be involved in NETs generation and NETs mediated tissue injury in abdominal sepsis. It should be noted that extensive clinical studies are warranted to confirm these findings in humans.

In a placebo-controlled human clinical trials, use of aerosolized recombinant DNase enzyme (Pulmozyme) showed promising results for the treatment for cystic fibrosis. DNase treatment effectively reduced viscoelasticity of neutrophil released DNA with improving pulmonary function and well-being of patients in phase 3 trials (211). During the current coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic, one study has shown that patients with COVID-19 have elevated levels of NETs marker such as myeloperoxidase-DNA and citrullinated histone H3 in the serum (212). While another study proved the presence of NETs in the lung specimens of deceased COVID-19 patients (213). Thus, considering the fact of NETs presence in the lung and complications similar to sepsis, the concept of DNase treatment could also be extended to extremely sick COVID-19 patients. It should be kept in mind that DNase treatment could reduce bacteria killing ability of host immune system. Hence, in future treating septic patients with a combination of DNase and antibiotics could be considered as a useful treatment strategy to reduce pulmonary NET contents and improve lung function. In conclusion, mechanisms revealed in this dissertation open up the possibility of future therapies in abdominal sepsis.

Conclusion

Paper I

c-Abl kinase plays a significant role in NET generation in neutrophils and in septic lung injury. Targeting c-Abl kinase might be an effective way to ameliorate lung damage in abdominal sepsis.

Paper II

MiR-155 plays a key role in regulating NET formation by positive regulation of neutrophil expression of PAD4 via a specific ARE element in the 3'-UTR region of PAD4 mRNA. Thus, targeting miR-155 could be useful strategy to control NET formation in inflammatory diseases.

Paper III

MiR-155 plays a key role in regulating pulmonary formation of NETs in abdominal sepsis, thus targeting miR-155 could be a useful target to reduce pulmonary damage in abdominal sepsis.

Paper IV

MPs attached to NETs play a key role in acute inflammatory disease. Blocking MP binding to the NET or inhibition of the HMGB1-TLR2/TLR4 axis might be an effective way to attenuate NET-dependent tissue damage.

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning på Svenska

Buksepsis är en inflammatorisk sjukdom som är associerad med associerad med hör morbiditet och mortalitet. Behandlingen av buksepsis är begränsad till antibiotika och stödjande behandling. Specifik behandling saknas idag delvis beroende på en ofullständig kunskap om de mekanismer som orsakar och är viktiga för hur det går för patienter med buksepsis. När bakterier läcker ut i blodbanan orsakas en systemisk inflammation som bland annat leder till en inflammation och organskada i flera organ av vilka lungorna utgör det viktigaste. Neutrofila granulocyter är en typ av vita blodkroppar som har visat sig spela en central betydelse för utvecklingen av septisk lungskada. Neutrofiler utsöndrar syreradikaler och enzymer som orsakar patologisk inflammation i lungan. På senare tid har det visat sig att neutrofiler också kan bilda och utsöndra så kallade neutrofila extracellulära fällor (neutrophil extracellular traps, NETs). Det övergripande syftet med den aktuella avhandlingen var att studera hur NETs bildas vid buksepsis och dess betydelse för inflammation och skada i lungorna.

Delarbete 1. Detta arbete var fokuserat på intracellulära signalvägar för regleringen av NET syntes. C-Abl kinase är ett enzym som finns i alla celler och det har visat sig att c-Abl kinas kan reglera bildningen av syreradikaler i neutrofiler. Syreradikaler är viktigast för bildningen av NETs och målsättningen blev därför att studera betydelsen av c-Abl kinas vid buksepsis med fokus på NET bildning. Först observerades att c-Abl kinas fosforylerades (aktiverades) och att GZD824 effektivt inhiberade forsforylering av c-Abl kinas i neutrofiler. Inhibition av c-Abl kinas aktivering minskade bildningen av NETs i blodet och i lungorna vid sepsis. Dessutom kunde det konstateras att GZD824 minskade ackumulering av neutrofiler i lungorna och att bildningen pro-inflammatoriska ämnen (kemokiner) minskade i lungorna. Behandling med GZD484 minskade också lungödemet vid septisk lungskada. Behandling med GZD484 minskade också den systemiska inflammationen mätt som ökning av IL-6 och kemokiner i plasma.

Delarbete 2. Nyare forskning har visat att vissa mikroRNA kan reglera uttrycket av många proteiner relevanta för inflammation och NET bildning. Tidigare har man ansett att NET bildning sker utan de novo syntes av proteiner och därmed skulle man kunna tolka situation så att mikroRNA inte är relevanta för NET bildning. Dock har tidigare studier använt ganska trubbiga och oprecisa metoder att mäta NETs så vi ville omvärdera uppfattningen att NETs inte skulle vara beroende av de novo proteinsyntes. Det kunde konstateras att cyklohexamine och puromycin som

proteinsyntes. Det kunde konstateras att cyklohexamine och puromycin som hämmar RNA translation effektivt minskade bildningen av NET oavsett olika typer av stimuli vilket antyder att NET bildning de facto är beroende av proteinsyntes. Vidare studeras betydelsen av mikroRNA-155 som tidigare visat sig vara viktig för regleringen av inflammation. Det kunde visas att transfektion med mikroRNA-155 ökade och att transfektion med en mikroRNA-155 antagonist minskade NET bildningen vilket inte bara stärker betydelsen av de novo proteinsyntes och visar av specifika mikroRNA kan reglera NET bildningen. Det kunde också påvisas att mikroRNA-155 reglerade enzymet PAD4 som är ett hastighetsreglerande enzym i bildningen av NETs.

Delarbete 3. Detta arbete var en vidareutveckling av delarbete 2 där mikroRNA-155 betydelse för NET bildning och septisk lungskada studerades in vivo. Möss som saknade genen för mikroRNA-155 visade sig bilda mycket mindre NET i samband med buksepsis. Vidare sågs att möss som saknade genen för mikroRNA-155 uppvisade minskade halter av PAD4 och citrullinerat histone H 3 som är viktiga för bildningen av NETs och kan förklara det reducerade mängden NETs i septiska lungor från dessa möss. Dessutom observeras mindre mängd kemokiner i både blodet och lungorna samt mindre mängd neutrofiler och svullnad i lungorna i septiska möss utan genen för mikroRNA-155 vilket visar att mikroRNA-155 reglerar patologisk inflammation i lungorna vid buksepsis.

Delarbete 4. Vi har i tidigare studier funnit att NETs och mikropartiklar (MP, delar av celler som kan knoppas i samband med aktivering) kan bilda så kallade NET-MP aggregat. I detta arbete avsågs att studera om dessa NET-MP aggregat har proinflammatoriska effekter in vivo. Det kunder konstateras att NET-MP aggregat dosberoende stimulerade neutrofil-endotelcells interaktioner in vivo. Behandling med caspase och calpain inhibitorer kunde minska bildning av NETs med MP. Sådana NETs utan MP var mycket mindre potenta stimuli för neutrofil rekrytering in vivo, vilket visar att dessa NET-MP aggregat har funktionell betydelse vid inflammatoriska reaktioner. Dessutom kartlades vilka adhesionsmolekyler som var viktiga på endotelceller och neutrofiler i samband med NET-MP-inducerad neutrofil ackumulation. Framförallt P-selectin, LFA-1 och Mac-1 visade sig mediera neutrofil-endotelcells interaktioner i mikrocirkulation efter stimulering med NET-MP aggregat. Dessutom observerades att en pro-inflammatorisk molekyl HMGB1 fanns på MP och att HMGB1 var viktig för stimuleringen av neutrofil rekrytering med NET-MP aggregat. Blockering av TLR2 och TLR4 minskade också NET-MP-inducerad neutrofil ackumulation vilket talar för att NET-beroende rekrytering av neutrofiler är medierad via en HMGB1-TLR2/TLR4 axel vid akut inflammation.

Sammantaget visar detta avhandlingsarbete att c-Abl kinas och mikroRNA-155 spelar en central roll för bildningen av NETs som dessutom verkar var beroende av de novo proteinsyntes. Inhibiiton av c-Abl kinas och mikroRNA-155 skulle kunna utgöra effektiva relevanta terapeutiska måltavlor för behandling av septisk lungskada. Dessutom visar detta arbete att NETs bildar aggregat med MP som är funktionella med avseende på stimulering av neutrofil rekrytering vid akut inflammation. NET-MP-inducerad neutrofil ackumulation verkar vara ett resultat av HMGB1-TLR2/TLR4 signalering och blockering av denna axel skulle också kunna vara en relevant måltavla för behandling av patienter med buksepsis.

Acknowledgment

First and foremost, I would like to thank Almighty God for giving me the power and confidence to continue this long journey.

I would like to express the deepest appreciation to my principal supervisor, Professor **Henrik Thorlacius** for giving me this golden opportunity, for his patience, enthusiasm, and for providing invaluable support throughout this research.

I am grateful to my co-supervisor **Dr. Milladur Rahman**, for all the guidance and supports he gave me, it would never have been possible for me to make this work without your guidance, your helpfulness is highly appreciated

My special thank goes to the most important person in the lab **Anne Marie** for all help that I got from the first day I started my Ph.D., I cannot imagine the lab without you.

My appreciation also extends to my laboratory colleagues at the Clinical Research Centre for all help you gave during my study, **Amr** for facilitating all the requirements, I always got the answer from him. **Nader, Yongzhi, Dler, Anwar, Raed, Zhiyi, Feifei,** it has been a great pleasure to work with all of you.

I would like to acknowledge my friend **Esraa** I have often looked towards her for the valuable suggestion, **Lubna** I cannot forget the valuable conversation and suggestion from you, thanks a lot

My biggest Appreciation and love belong to my family, my **parents**, who has always supported me morally and economically and given me encouragement throughout my life, no words will be enough to express my appreciation to you. Also, I express my thanks to my sister **Azhin**, **Rebeen**, and their lovely family for their love and continuous supports, my sister **Rundk** for introducing me to this research group and for her dedicated help, and my younger brother **Rassan** and his family for their sincere encouragement. I owe everything to them.

Sweet thanks to my husband **Mohammed** and two angels in my life **Omar** and **Maria** for their love, patience, and understanding of my research work especially during the most time when I was at work. I also want to say 'thank you" to my father-in-law **Widad**, my mother-in-law **Mona**, my sister-in-law **Somaiya** and **Haifa**, for their encouragement and help.

At last, I would like to thank many other people at the faculty of medicine and all my friends in Sweden and Kurdistan whose names have not mentioned here, I never forget their help.

Thank you all from the bottom of my heart!

References

- 1. Cecconi M, Evans L, Levy M, and Rhodes A. Sepsis and septic shock. *Lancet*. 2018;392(10141):75-87.
- 2. Dombrovskiy VY, Martin AA, Sunderram J, and Paz HL. Rapid increase in hospitalization and mortality rates for severe sepsis in the United States: a trend analysis from 1993 to 2003. *Crit Care Med.* 2007;35(5):1244-50.
- 3. Angus DC, and Wax RS. Epidemiology of sepsis: an update. *Crit Care Med.* 2001;29(7 Suppl):S109-16.
- 4. Martin GS, Mannino DM, and Moss M. The effect of age on the development and outcome of adult sepsis. *Crit Care Med.* 2006;34(1):15-21.
- 5. Gustot T. Multiple organ failure in sepsis: prognosis and role of systemic inflammatory response. *Curr Opin Crit Care*. 2011;17(2):153-9.
- 6. Kumar V. Pulmonary Innate Immune Response Determines the Outcome of Inflammation During Pneumonia and Sepsis-Associated Acute Lung Injury. *Front Immunol.* 2020;11:1722.
- Cakir M, Tekin S, Okan A, Cakan P, and Doganyigit Z. The ameliorating effect of cannabinoid type 2 receptor activation on brain, lung, liver and heart damage in cecal ligation and puncture-induced sepsis model in rats. *Int Immunopharmacol.* 2020;78:105978.
- 8. Ware LB. Pathophysiology of acute lung injury and the acute respiratory distress syndrome. *Semin Respir Crit Care Med.* 2006;27(4):337-49.
- 9. Babayigit H, Kucuk C, Sozuer E, Yazici C, Kose K, and Akgun H. Protective effect of beta-glucan on lung injury after cecal ligation and puncture in rats. *Intensive Care Med.* 2005;31(6):865-70.
- Brown KA, Brain SD, Pearson JD, Edgeworth JD, Lewis SM, and Treacher DF. Neutrophils in development of multiple organ failure in sepsis. *Lancet*. 2006;368(9530):157-69.
- 11. Hazeldine J, Hampson P, and Lord JM. The impact of trauma on neutrophil function. *Injury*. 2014;45(12):1824-33.
- 12. Borregaard N. Neutrophils, from marrow to microbes. Immunity. 2010;33(5):657-70.
- 13. Kappala SS, Espino J, Pariente JA, Rodriguez AB, Rajbhandari S, Iyengar A, et al. FMLP-, thapsigargin-, and H(2)O(2)-evoked changes in intracellular free calcium concentration in lymphocytes and neutrophils of type 2 diabetic patients. *Mol Cell Biochem.* 2014;387(1-2):251-60.
- 14. Shibuya K, Paris S, Ando T, Nakayama H, Hatori T, and Latge JP. Catalases of Aspergillus fumigatus and inflammation in aspergillosis. *Nihon Ishinkin Gakkai Zasshi*. 2006;47(4):249-55.
- 15. Hickey MJ, and Kubes P. Intravascular immunity: the host-pathogen encounter in blood vessels. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2009;9(5):364-75.

- 16. Brinkmann V, Reichard U, Goosmann C, Fauler B, Uhlemann Y, Weiss DS, et al. Neutrophil extracellular traps kill bacteria. *Science*. 2004;303(5663):1532-5.
- 17. Luo L, Zhang S, Wang Y, Rahman M, Syk I, Zhang E, et al. Proinflammatory role of neutrophil extracellular traps in abdominal sepsis. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*. 2014;307(7):L586-96.
- Metzler KD, Fuchs TA, Nauseef WM, Reumaux D, Roesler J, Schulze I, et al. Myeloperoxidase is required for neutrophil extracellular trap formation: implications for innate immunity. *Blood.* 2011;117(3):953-9.
- 19. Narayana Moorthy A, Narasaraju T, Rai P, Perumalsamy R, Tan KB, Wang S, et al. In vivo and in vitro studies on the roles of neutrophil extracellular traps during secondary pneumococcal pneumonia after primary pulmonary influenza infection. *Front Immunol.* 2013;4:56.
- 20. Soehnlein O, and Lindbom L. Phagocyte partnership during the onset and resolution of inflammation. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2010;10(6):427-39.
- Singer M, Deutschman CS, Seymour CW, Shankar-Hari M, Annane D, Bauer M, et al. The Third International Consensus Definitions for Sepsis and Septic Shock (Sepsis-3). JAMA. 2016;315(8):801-10.
- 22. Rittirsch D, Flierl MA, and Ward PA. Harmful molecular mechanisms in sepsis. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2008;8(10):776-87.
- 23. Aziz M, Jacob A, Yang WL, Matsuda A, and Wang P. Current trends in inflammatory and immunomodulatory mediators in sepsis. *J Leukoc Biol.* 2013;93(3):329-42.
- 24. Fleischmann C, Scherag A, Adhikari NK, Hartog CS, Tsaganos T, Schlattmann P, et al. Assessment of Global Incidence and Mortality of Hospital-treated Sepsis. Current Estimates and Limitations. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* 2016;193(3):259-72.
- 25. Bone RC, Balk RA, Cerra FB, Dellinger RP, Fein AM, Knaus WA, et al. Definitions for sepsis and organ failure and guidelines for the use of innovative therapies in sepsis. The ACCP/SCCM Consensus Conference Committee. American College of Chest Physicians/Society of Critical Care Medicine. *Chest.* 1992;101(6):1644-55.
- Levy MM, Fink MP, Marshall JC, Abraham E, Angus D, Cook D, et al. 2001 SCCM/ESICM/ACCP/ATS/SIS International Sepsis Definitions Conference. *Crit Care Med.* 2003;31(4):1250-6.
- 27. Churpek MM, Snyder A, Han X, Sokol S, Pettit N, Howell MD, et al. Quick Sepsisrelated Organ Failure Assessment, Systemic Inflammatory Response Syndrome, and Early Warning Scores for Detecting Clinical Deterioration in Infected Patients outside the Intensive Care Unit. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* 2017;195(7):906-11.
- Vincent JL, Moreno R, Takala J, Willatts S, De Mendonca A, Bruining H, et al. The SOFA (Sepsis-related Organ Failure Assessment) score to describe organ dysfunction/failure. On behalf of the Working Group on Sepsis-Related Problems of the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine. *Intensive Care Med.* 1996;22(7):707-10.

- Shankar-Hari M, Phillips GS, Levy ML, Seymour CW, Liu VX, Deutschman CS, et al. Developing a New Definition and Assessing New Clinical Criteria for Septic Shock: For the Third International Consensus Definitions for Sepsis and Septic Shock (Sepsis-3). JAMA. 2016;315(8):775-87.
- Seymour CW, Liu VX, Iwashyna TJ, Brunkhorst FM, Rea TD, Scherag A, et al. Assessment of Clinical Criteria for Sepsis: For the Third International Consensus Definitions for Sepsis and Septic Shock (Sepsis-3). JAMA. 2016;315(8):762-74.
- 31. Hotchkiss RS, and Karl IE. The pathophysiology and treatment of sepsis. *N Engl J Med.* 2003;348(2):138-50.
- 32. Bone RC, Grodzin CJ, and Balk RA. Sepsis: a new hypothesis for pathogenesis of the disease process. *Chest.* 1997;112(1):235-43.
- Schrag SJ, Farley MM, Petit S, Reingold A, Weston EJ, Pondo T, et al. Epidemiology of Invasive Early-Onset Neonatal Sepsis, 2005 to 2014. *Pediatrics*. 2016;138(6).
- 34. Sriskandan S, and Cohen J. Gram-positive sepsis. Mechanisms and differences from gram-negative sepsis. *Infect Dis Clin North Am.* 1999;13(2):397-412.
- 35. Florescu DF, and Kalil AC. The complex link between influenza and severe sepsis. *Virulence*. 2014;5(1):137-42.
- 36. Kaufman D, and Fairchild KD. Clinical microbiology of bacterial and fungal sepsis in very-low-birth-weight infants. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* 2004;17(3):638-80, table of contents.
- 37. Janeway CA, Jr., and Medzhitov R. Introduction: the role of innate immunity in the adaptive immune response. *Semin Immunol.* 1998;10(5):349-50.
- Demento SL, Siefert AL, Bandyopadhyay A, Sharp FA, and Fahmy TM. Pathogenassociated molecular patterns on biomaterials: a paradigm for engineering new vaccines. *Trends Biotechnol.* 2011;29(6):294-306.
- 39. Gentile LF, and Moldawer LL. DAMPs, PAMPs, and the origins of SIRS in bacterial sepsis. *Shock.* 2013;39(1):113-4.
- McCarthy CG, Goulopoulou S, Wenceslau CF, Spitler K, Matsumoto T, and Webb RC. Toll-like receptors and damage-associated molecular patterns: novel links between inflammation and hypertension. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* 2014;306(2):H184-96.
- 41. Takeuchi O, and Akira S. Pattern recognition receptors and inflammation. *Cell*. 2010;140(6):805-20.
- 42. Triantafilou M, and Triantafilou K. The dynamics of LPS recognition: complex orchestration of multiple receptors. *J Endotoxin Res.* 2005;11(1):5-11.
- 43. Kumar H, Kawai T, and Akira S. Pathogen recognition by the innate immune system. *Int Rev Immunol.* 2011;30(1):16-34.
- 44. Akira S, Uematsu S, and Takeuchi O. Pathogen recognition and innate immunity. *Cell.* 2006;124(4):783-801.
- 45. Shapiro L, and Gelfand JA. Cytokines and sepsis: pathophysiology and therapy. *New Horiz.* 1993;1(1):13-22.

- 47. Wang R, Fang Q, Zhang L, Radvany L, Sharma A, Noben-Trauth N, et al. CD28 ligation prevents bacterial toxin-induced septic shock in mice by inducing IL-10 expression. *J Immunol*. 1997;158(6):2856-61.
- Tracey KJ, Fong Y, Hesse DG, Manogue KR, Lee AT, Kuo GC, et al. Anticachectin/TNF monoclonal antibodies prevent septic shock during lethal bacteraemia. *Nature*. 1987;330(6149):662-4.
- 49. Opal SM, Garber GE, LaRosa SP, Maki DG, Freebairn RC, Kinasewitz GT, et al. Systemic host responses in severe sepsis analyzed by causative microorganism and treatment effects of drotrecogin alfa (activated). *Clin Infect Dis.* 2003;37(1):50-8.
- 50. Stevens DL, Tanner MH, Winship J, Swarts R, Ries KM, Schlievert PM, et al. Severe group A streptococcal infections associated with a toxic shock-like syndrome and scarlet fever toxin A. *N Engl J Med.* 1989;321(1):1-7.
- 51. Hadley S, Lee WW, Ruthazer R, and Nasraway SA, Jr. Candidemia as a cause of septic shock and multiple organ failure in nonimmunocompromised patients. *Crit Care Med.* 2002;30(8):1808-14.
- 52. Wang Y, Roller J, Slotta JE, Zhang S, Luo L, Rahman M, et al. Distinct patterns of leukocyte recruitment in the pulmonary microvasculature in response to local and systemic inflammation. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*. 2013;304(4):L298-305.
- 53. Phillipson M, and Kubes P. The neutrophil in vascular inflammation. *Nat Med.* 2011;17(11):1381-90.
- 54. Tasaka S, Koh H, Yamada W, Shimizu M, Ogawa Y, Hasegawa N, et al. Attenuation of endotoxin-induced acute lung injury by the Rho-associated kinase inhibitor, Y-27632. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* 2005;32(6):504-10.
- 55. Lagu T, Rothberg MB, Shieh MS, Pekow PS, Steingrub JS, and Lindenauer PK. Hospitalizations, costs, and outcomes of severe sepsis in the United States 2003 to 2007. *Crit Care Med.* 2012;40(3):754-61.
- 56. Doerschuk CM, Allard MF, and Hogg JC. Neutrophil kinetics in rabbits during infusion of zymosan-activated plasma. *J Appl Physiol (1985)*. 1989;67(1):88-95.
- 57. Costa EL, Schettino IA, and Schettino GP. The lung in sepsis: guilty or innocent? *Endocr Metab Immune Disord Drug Targets*. 2006;6(2):213-6.
- 58. Wang H, and Ma S. The cytokine storm and factors determining the sequence and severity of organ dysfunction in multiple organ dysfunction syndrome. *Am J Emerg Med.* 2008;26(6):711-5.
- 59. Maier RV. Pathogenesis of multiple organ dysfunction syndrome--endotoxin, inflammatory cells, and their mediators: cytokines and reactive oxygen species. *Surg Infect (Larchmt).* 2000;1(3):197-204; discussion -5.
- 60. Matthay MA, Ware LB, and Zimmerman GA. The acute respiratory distress syndrome. *J Clin Invest.* 2012;122(8):2731-40.
- 61. Donahoe M. Acute respiratory distress syndrome: A clinical review. *Pulm Circ.* 2011;1(2):192-211.

- 62. Kolaczkowska E, and Kubes P. Neutrophil recruitment and function in health and inflammation. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2013;13(3):159-75.
- 63. Wengner AM, Pitchford SC, Furze RC, and Rankin SM. The coordinated action of G-CSF and ELR + CXC chemokines in neutrophil mobilization during acute inflammation. *Blood.* 2008;111(1):42-9.
- 64. Mantovani A, Cassatella MA, Costantini C, and Jaillon S. Neutrophils in the activation and regulation of innate and adaptive immunity. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2011;11(8):519-31.
- 65. Wang Y, Chen CL, and Iijima M. Signaling mechanisms for chemotaxis. *Dev Growth Differ*. 2011;53(4):495-502.
- 66. Blankenberg S, Barbaux S, and Tiret L. Adhesion molecules and atherosclerosis. *Atherosclerosis.* 2003;170(2):191-203.
- 67. Butcher EC. Leukocyte-endothelial cell recognition: three (or more) steps to specificity and diversity. *Cell*. 1991;67(6):1033-6.
- 68. Carlos TM, and Harlan JM. Leukocyte-endothelial adhesion molecules. *Blood*. 1994;84(7):2068-101.
- 69. Yang J, Hirata T, Croce K, Merrill-Skoloff G, Tchernychev B, Williams E, et al. Targeted gene disruption demonstrates that P-selectin glycoprotein ligand 1 (PSGL-1) is required for P-selectin-mediated but not E-selectin-mediated neutrophil rolling and migration. *J Exp Med.* 1999;190(12):1769-82.
- Yuan Y, Mier RA, Chilian WM, Zawieja DC, and Granger HJ. Interaction of neutrophils and endothelium in isolated coronary venules and arterioles. *Am J Physiol.* 1995;268(1 Pt 2):H490-8.
- 71. Nourshargh S, and Alon R. Leukocyte migration into inflamed tissues. *Immunity*. 2014;41(5):694-707.
- 72. Klintman D, Li X, and Thorlacius H. Important role of P-selectin for leukocyte recruitment, hepatocellular injury, and apoptosis in endotoxemic mice. *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol.* 2004;11(1):56-62.
- 73. Atherton A, and Born GV. Quantitative investigations of the adhesiveness of circulating polymorphonuclear leucocytes to blood vessel walls. *J Physiol.* 1972;222(2):447-74.
- Hidalgo A, Peired AJ, Wild M, Vestweber D, and Frenette PS. Complete identification of E-selectin ligands on neutrophils reveals distinct functions of PSGL-1, ESL-1, and CD44. *Immunity*. 2007;26(4):477-89.
- 75. Asaduzzaman M, Zhang S, Lavasani S, Wang Y, and Thorlacius H. LFA-1 and MAC-1 mediate pulmonary recruitment of neutrophils and tissue damage in abdominal sepsis. *Shock.* 2008;30(3):254-9.
- 76. Phillipson M, Heit B, Colarusso P, Liu L, Ballantyne CM, and Kubes P. Intraluminal crawling of neutrophils to emigration sites: a molecularly distinct process from adhesion in the recruitment cascade. *J Exp Med.* 2006;203(12):2569-75.
- 77. Lerman YV, and Kim M. Neutrophil migration under normal and sepsis conditions. *Cardiovasc Hematol Disord Drug Targets*. 2015;15(1):19-28.
- 78. Kermarrec N, Chollet-Martin S, Beloucif S, Faivre V, Gougerot-Pocidalo MA, and Payen DM. Alveolar neutrophil oxidative burst and beta2 integrin expression in experimental acute pulmonary inflammation are not modified by inhaled nitric oxide. *Shock.* 1998;10(2):129-34.
- 79. Ding ZM, Babensee JE, Simon SI, Lu H, Perrard JL, Bullard DC, et al. Relative contribution of LFA-1 and Mac-1 to neutrophil adhesion and migration. *J Immunol.* 1999;163(9):5029-38.
- Allport JR, Ding H, Collins T, Gerritsen ME, and Luscinskas FW. Endothelialdependent mechanisms regulate leukocyte transmigration: a process involving the proteasome and disruption of the vascular endothelial-cadherin complex at endothelial cell-to-cell junctions. *J Exp Med.* 1997;186(4):517-27.
- Lawrence MB, and Springer TA. Leukocytes roll on a selectin at physiologic flow rates: distinction from and prerequisite for adhesion through integrins. *Cell*. 1991;65(5):859-73.
- Fuchs TA, Abed U, Goosmann C, Hurwitz R, Schulze I, Wahn V, et al. Novel cell death program leads to neutrophil extracellular traps. *J Cell Biol.* 2007;176(2):231-41.
- 83. Nguyen GT, Green ER, and Mecsas J. Neutrophils to the ROScue: Mechanisms of NADPH Oxidase Activation and Bacterial Resistance. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol.* 2017;7:373.
- 84. Papayannopoulos V. Neutrophil extracellular traps in immunity and disease. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2018;18(2):134-47.
- 85. Merza M, Hartman H, Rahman M, Hwaiz R, Zhang E, Renstrom E, et al. Neutrophil Extracellular Traps Induce Trypsin Activation, Inflammation, and Tissue Damage in Mice With Severe Acute Pancreatitis. *Gastroenterology*. 2015;149(7):1920-31 e8.
- 86. Zhao X, Yang L, Chang N, Hou L, Zhou X, Yang L, et al. Neutrophils undergo switch of apoptosis to NETosis during murine fatty liver injury via S1P receptor 2 signaling. *Cell Death Dis.* 2020;11(5):379.
- 87. McDonald B, Urrutia R, Yipp BG, Jenne CN, and Kubes P. Intravascular neutrophil extracellular traps capture bacteria from the bloodstream during sepsis. *Cell Host Microbe*. 2012;12(3):324-33.
- 88. Kawasaki H, and Iwamuro S. Potential roles of histones in host defense as antimicrobial agents. *Infect Disord Drug Targets*. 2008;8(3):195-205.
- Urban CF, Ermert D, Schmid M, Abu-Abed U, Goosmann C, Nacken W, et al. Neutrophil extracellular traps contain calprotectin, a cytosolic protein complex involved in host defense against Candida albicans. *PLoS Pathog.* 2009;5(10):e1000639.
- 90. Brinkmann V, and Zychlinsky A. Beneficial suicide: why neutrophils die to make NETs. *Nat Rev Microbiol.* 2007;5(8):577-82.
- 91. Rohrbach AS, Slade DJ, Thompson PR, and Mowen KA. Activation of PAD4 in NET formation. *Front Immunol.* 2012;3:360.
- 92. Wang Y, Li M, Stadler S, Correll S, Li P, Wang D, et al. Histone hypercitrullination mediates chromatin decondensation and neutrophil extracellular trap formation. *J Cell Biol.* 2009;184(2):205-13.

- 93. Neeli I, Khan SN, and Radic M. Histone deimination as a response to inflammatory stimuli in neutrophils. *J Immunol.* 2008;180(3):1895-902.
- 94. Abdulla A, Awla D, Thorlacius H, and Regner S. Role of neutrophils in the activation of trypsinogen in severe acute pancreatitis. *J Leukoc Biol.* 2011;90(5):975-82.
- 95. Arita K, Hashimoto H, Shimizu T, Nakashima K, Yamada M, and Sato M. Structural basis for Ca(2+)-induced activation of human PAD4. *Nat Struct Mol Biol.* 2004;11(8):777-83.
- 96. Awla D, Abdulla A, Syk I, Jeppsson B, Regner S, and Thorlacius H. Neutrophilderived matrix metalloproteinase-9 is a potent activator of trypsinogen in acinar cells in acute pancreatitis. *J Leukoc Biol.* 2012;91(5):711-9.
- 97. Lewis HD, Liddle J, Coote JE, Atkinson SJ, Barker MD, Bax BD, et al. Inhibition of PAD4 activity is sufficient to disrupt mouse and human NET formation. *Nat Chem Biol.* 2015;11(3):189-91.
- 98. Li P, Li M, Lindberg MR, Kennett MJ, Xiong N, and Wang Y. PAD4 is essential for antibacterial innate immunity mediated by neutrophil extracellular traps. *J Exp Med.* 2010;207(9):1853-62.
- 99. Wang J, and Pendergast AM. The Emerging Role of ABL Kinases in Solid Tumors. *Trends Cancer*. 2015;1(2):110-23.
- 100. Tong H, Zhao B, Shi H, Ba X, Wang X, Jiang Y, et al. c-Abl tyrosine kinase plays a critical role in beta2 integrin-dependent neutrophil migration by regulating Vav1 activity. *J Leukoc Biol.* 2013;93(4):611-22.
- 101. Yipp BG, Kim JH, Lima R, Zbytnuik LD, Petri B, Swanlund N, et al. The Lung is a Host Defense Niche for Immediate Neutrophil-Mediated Vascular Protection. *Sci Immunol.* 2017;2(10).
- 102. Rizzo AN, Aman J, van Nieuw Amerongen GP, and Dudek SM. Targeting Abl kinases to regulate vascular leak during sepsis and acute respiratory distress syndrome. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2015;35(5):1071-9.
- 103. Jackson RC, and Radivoyevitch T. Modelling c-Abl Signalling in Activated Neutrophils: the Anti-inflammatory Effect of Seliciclib. *Biodiscovery*. 2013;7(4):4.
- 104. Kirchner T, Moller S, Klinger M, Solbach W, Laskay T, and Behnen M. The impact of various reactive oxygen species on the formation of neutrophil extracellular traps. *Mediators Inflamm.* 2012;2012:849136.
- 105. Allen JC, Talab F, Zuzel M, Lin K, and Slupsky JR. c-Abl regulates Mcl-1 gene expression in chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells. *Blood*. 2011;117(8):2414-22.
- 106. Valencia-Sanchez MA, Liu J, Hannon GJ, and Parker R. Control of translation and mRNA degradation by miRNAs and siRNAs. *Genes Dev.* 2006;20(5):515-24.
- 107. Chen JQ, Papp G, Szodoray P, and Zeher M. The role of microRNAs in the pathogenesis of autoimmune diseases. *Autoimmun Rev.* 2016;15(12):1171-80.
- Vachharajani V, Liu T, and McCall CE. Epigenetic coordination of acute systemic inflammation: potential therapeutic targets. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol*. 2014;10(9):1141-50.

- 109. Nauseef WM. Neutrophils, from cradle to grave and beyond. *Immunol Rev.* 2016;273(1):5-10.
- 110. Arroyo AB, de Los Reyes-Garcia AM, Rivera-Caravaca JM, Valledor P, Garcia-Barbera N, Roldan V, et al. MiR-146a Regulates Neutrophil Extracellular Trap Formation That Predicts Adverse Cardiovascular Events in Patients With Atrial Fibrillation. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2018;38(4):892-902.
- 111. Cao M, Shikama Y, Kimura H, Noji H, Ikeda K, Ono T, et al. Mechanisms of Impaired Neutrophil Migration by MicroRNAs in Myelodysplastic Syndromes. J Immunol. 2017;198(5):1887-99.
- Hess C, Sadallah S, Hefti A, Landmann R, and Schifferli JA. Ectosomes released by human neutrophils are specialized functional units. *J Immunol.* 1999;163(8):4564-73.
- 113. Wang Y, Luo L, Braun OO, Westman J, Madhi R, Herwald H, et al. Neutrophil extracellular trap-microparticle complexes enhance thrombin generation via the intrinsic pathway of coagulation in mice. *Sci Rep.* 2018;8(1):4020.
- 114. Nieuwland R, Berckmans RJ, McGregor S, Boing AN, Romijn FP, Westendorp RG, et al. Cellular origin and procoagulant properties of microparticles in meningococcal sepsis. *Blood.* 2000;95(3):930-5.
- 115. Minagar A, Jy W, Jimenez JJ, Sheremata WA, Mauro LM, Mao WW, et al. Elevated plasma endothelial microparticles in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*. 2001;56(10):1319-24.
- Brogan PA, Shah V, Brachet C, Harnden A, Mant D, Klein N, et al. Endothelial and platelet microparticles in vasculitis of the young. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2004;50(3):927-36.
- 117. Combes V, Simon AC, Grau GE, Arnoux D, Camoin L, Sabatier F, et al. In vitro generation of endothelial microparticles and possible prothrombotic activity in patients with lupus anticoagulant. *J Clin Invest*. 1999;104(1):93-102.
- 118. Aupeix K, Hugel B, Martin T, Bischoff P, Lill H, Pasquali JL, et al. The significance of shed membrane particles during programmed cell death in vitro, and in vivo, in HIV-1 infection. J Clin Invest. 1997;99(7):1546-54.
- 119. Knijff-Dutmer EA, Koerts J, Nieuwland R, Kalsbeek-Batenburg EM, and van de Laar MA. Elevated levels of platelet microparticles are associated with disease activity in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* 2002;46(6):1498-503.
- Dalli J, Norling LV, Renshaw D, Cooper D, Leung KY, and Perretti M. Annexin 1 mediates the rapid anti-inflammatory effects of neutrophil-derived microparticles. *Blood.* 2008;112(6):2512-9.
- Pisetsky DS, Gauley J, and Ullal AJ. Microparticles as a source of extracellular DNA. *Immunol Res.* 2011;49(1-3):227-34.
- 122. Aguiar-Ricardo I, Mateus H, and Goncalves-Pereira J. Hidden hospital mortality in patients with sepsis discharged from the intensive care unit. *Rev Bras Ter Intensiva*. 2019;31(2):122-8.
- 123. Dellinger RP, Levy MM, Rhodes A, Annane D, Gerlach H, Opal SM, et al. Surviving sepsis campaign: international guidelines for management of severe sepsis and septic shock: 2012. *Crit Care Med.* 2013;41(2):580-637.

- 124. Rhodes A, Evans LE, Alhazzani W, Levy MM, Antonelli M, Ferrer R, et al. Surviving Sepsis Campaign: International Guidelines for Management of Sepsis and Septic Shock: 2016. *Intensive Care Med.* 2017;43(3):304-77.
- 125. Rhee C, Gohil S, and Klompas M. Regulatory mandates for sepsis care--reasons for caution. *N Engl J Med.* 2014;370(18):1673-6.
- 126. Annane D, Sebille V, Charpentier C, Bollaert PE, Francois B, Korach JM, et al. Effect of treatment with low doses of hydrocortisone and fludrocortisone on mortality in patients with septic shock. *JAMA*. 2002;288(7):862-71.
- 127. van den Berghe G, Wouters P, Weekers F, Verwaest C, Bruyninckx F, Schetz M, et al. Intensive insulin therapy in critically ill patients. *N Engl J Med.* 2001;345(19):1359-67.
- 128. Wang JY. The capable ABL: what is its biological function? *Mol Cell Biol*. 2014;34(7):1188-97.
- 129. Khatri A, Wang J, and Pendergast AM. Multifunctional Abl kinases in health and disease. *J Cell Sci.* 2016;129(1):9-16.
- 130. Colicelli J. ABL tyrosine kinases: evolution of function, regulation, and specificity. *Sci Signal.* 2010;3(139):re6.
- 131. Bradley WD, and Koleske AJ. Regulation of cell migration and morphogenesis by Abl-family kinases: emerging mechanisms and physiological contexts. *J Cell Sci.* 2009;122(Pt 19):3441-54.
- 132. Woodring PJ, Litwack ED, O'Leary DD, Lucero GR, Wang JY, and Hunter T. Modulation of the F-actin cytoskeleton by c-Abl tyrosine kinase in cell spreading and neurite extension. *J Cell Biol.* 2002;156(5):879-92.
- Clark SR, Ma AC, Tavener SA, McDonald B, Goodarzi Z, Kelly MM, et al. Platelet TLR4 activates neutrophil extracellular traps to ensnare bacteria in septic blood. *Nat Med.* 2007;13(4):463-9.
- 134. Margraf S, Logters T, Reipen J, Altrichter J, Scholz M, and Windolf J. Neutrophilderived circulating free DNA (cf-DNA/NETs): a potential prognostic marker for posttraumatic development of inflammatory second hit and sepsis. *Shock.* 2008;30(4):352-8.
- 135. Babior BM. The respiratory burst of phagocytes. J Clin Invest. 1984;73(3):599-601.
- 136. Stoiber W, Obermayer A, Steinbacher P, and Krautgartner WD. The Role of Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS) in the Formation of Extracellular Traps (ETs) in Humans. *Biomolecules*. 2015;5(2):702-23.
- 137. Nani S, Fumagalli L, Sinha U, Kamen L, Scapini P, and Berton G. Src family kinases and Syk are required for neutrophil extracellular trap formation in response to betaglucan particles. *J Innate Immun*. 2015;7(1):59-73.
- Patel RT, Deen KI, Youngs D, Warwick J, and Keighley MR. Interleukin 6 is a prognostic indicator of outcome in severe intra-abdominal sepsis. *Br J Surg.* 1994;81(9):1306-8.
- Gardlund B, Sjolin J, Nilsson A, Roll M, Wickerts CJ, and Wretlind B. Plasma levels of cytokines in primary septic shock in humans: correlation with disease severity. J Infect Dis. 1995;172(1):296-301.

- 140. Harbarth S, Holeckova K, Froidevaux C, Pittet D, Ricou B, Grau GE, et al. Diagnostic value of procalcitonin, interleukin-6, and interleukin-8 in critically ill patients admitted with suspected sepsis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* 2001;164(3):396-402.
- Pettila V, Hynninen M, Takkunen O, Kuusela P, and Valtonen M. Predictive value of procalcitonin and interleukin 6 in critically ill patients with suspected sepsis. *Intensive Care Med.* 2002;28(9):1220-5.
- 142. Jekarl DW, Lee SY, Lee J, Park YJ, Kim Y, Park JH, et al. Procalcitonin as a diagnostic marker and IL-6 as a prognostic marker for sepsis. *Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis.* 2013;75(4):342-7.
- 143. Takahashi W, Nakada TA, Yazaki M, and Oda S. Interleukin-6 Levels Act as a Diagnostic Marker for Infection and a Prognostic Marker in Patients with Organ Dysfunction in Intensive Care Units. *Shock.* 2016;46(3):254-60.
- 144. Hack CE, De Groot ER, Felt-Bersma RJ, Nuijens JH, Strack Van Schijndel RJ, Eerenberg-Belmer AJ, et al. Increased plasma levels of interleukin-6 in sepsis. *Blood.* 1989;74(5):1704-10.
- 145. Helfgott DC, Tatter SB, Santhanam U, Clarick RH, Bhardwaj N, May LT, et al. Multiple forms of IFN-beta 2/IL-6 in serum and body fluids during acute bacterial infection. *J Immunol.* 1989;142(3):948-53.
- 146. Krol J, Loedige I, and Filipowicz W. The widespread regulation of microRNA biogenesis, function and decay. *Nat Rev Genet.* 2010;11(9):597-610.
- 147. Faraoni I, Antonetti FR, Cardone J, and Bonmassar E. miR-155 gene: a typical multifunctional microRNA. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 2009;1792(6):497-505.
- 148. Teng G, and Papavasiliou FN. Shhh! Silencing by microRNA-155. *Philos Trans R* Soc Lond B Biol Sci. 2009;364(1517):631-7.
- 149. Calame K. MicroRNA-155 function in B Cells. Immunity. 2007;27(6):825-7.
- 150. Tili E, Croce CM, and Michaille JJ. miR-155: on the crosstalk between inflammation and cancer. *Int Rev Immunol*. 2009;28(5):264-84.
- 151. O'Connell RM, Rao DS, and Baltimore D. microRNA regulation of inflammatory responses. *Annu Rev Immunol.* 2012;30:295-312.
- 152. Gurol T, Zhou W, and Deng Q. MicroRNAs in neutrophils: potential next generation therapeutics for inflammatory ailments. *Immunol Rev.* 2016;273(1):29-47.
- Testa U, Pelosi E, Castelli G, and Labbaye C. miR-146 and miR-155: Two Key Modulators of Immune Response and Tumor Development. *Noncoding RNA*. 2017;3(3).
- 154. Grilz E, Mauracher LM, Posch F, Konigsbrugge O, Zochbauer-Muller S, Marosi C, et al. Citrullinated histone H3, a biomarker for neutrophil extracellular trap formation, predicts the risk of mortality in patients with cancer. *Br J Haematol.* 2019;186(2):311-20.
- 155. Mauracher LM, Posch F, Martinod K, Grilz E, Daullary T, Hell L, et al. Citrullinated histone H3, a biomarker of neutrophil extracellular trap formation, predicts the risk of venous thromboembolism in cancer patients. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2018;16(3):508-18.

- 156. Sollberger G, Amulic B, and Zychlinsky A. Neutrophil Extracellular Trap Formation Is Independent of De Novo Gene Expression. *PLoS One.* 2016;11(6):e0157454.
- 157. Tatsiy O, and McDonald PP. Physiological Stimuli Induce PAD4-Dependent, ROS-Independent NETosis, With Early and Late Events Controlled by Discrete Signaling Pathways. *Front Immunol.* 2018;9:2036.
- 158. Khan MA, and Palaniyar N. Transcriptional firing helps to drive NETosis. *Sci Rep.* 2017;7:41749.
- 159. Claushuis TAM, van der Donk LEH, Luitse AL, van Veen HA, van der Wel NN, van Vught LA, et al. Role of Peptidylarginine Deiminase 4 in Neutrophil Extracellular Trap Formation and Host Defense during Klebsiella pneumoniae-Induced Pneumonia-Derived Sepsis. *J Immunol.* 2018;201(4):1241-52.
- Lopez de Silanes I, Fan J, Yang X, Zonderman AB, Potapova O, Pizer ES, et al. Role of the RNA-binding protein HuR in colon carcinogenesis. *Oncogene*. 2003;22(46):7146-54.
- Fan XC, and Steitz JA. Overexpression of HuR, a nuclear-cytoplasmic shuttling protein, increases the in vivo stability of ARE-containing mRNAs. *EMBO J.* 1998;17(12):3448-60.
- 162. Zhang GJ, Xiao HX, Tian HP, Liu ZL, Xia SS, and Zhou T. Upregulation of microRNA-155 promotes the migration and invasion of colorectal cancer cells through the regulation of claudin-1 expression. *Int J Mol Med.* 2013;31(6):1375-80.
- 163. Truesdell SS, Mortensen RD, Seo M, Schroeder JC, Lee JH, LeTonqueze O, et al. MicroRNA-mediated mRNA translation activation in quiescent cells and oocytes involves recruitment of a nuclear microRNP. *Sci Rep.* 2012;2:842.
- 164. Yang Z, Jakymiw A, Wood MR, Eystathioy T, Rubin RL, Fritzler MJ, et al. GW182 is critical for the stability of GW bodies expressed during the cell cycle and cell proliferation. J Cell Sci. 2004;117(Pt 23):5567-78.
- Al-Haidari AA, Syk I, and Thorlacius H. MiR-155-5p positively regulates CCL17induced colon cancer cell migration by targeting RhoA. *Oncotarget*. 2017;8(9):14887-96.
- 166. Brink M, Cronqvist J, Fagerberg A, Lindgren P, Lipcsey M, Okas M, et al. [New definition of and diagnostic criteria for sepsis Swedish use of Sepsis-3]. *Lakartidningen*. 2018;115.
- 167. Leliefeld PH, Koenderman L, and Pillay J. How Neutrophils Shape Adaptive Immune Responses. *Front Immunol.* 2015;6:471.
- 168. Zawrotniak M, and Rapala-Kozik M. Neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) formation and implications. *Acta Biochim Pol.* 2013;60(3):277-84.
- 169. Liang Y, Pan B, Alam HB, Deng Q, Wang Y, Chen E, et al. Inhibition of peptidylarginine deiminase alleviates LPS-induced pulmonary dysfunction and improves survival in a mouse model of lethal endotoxemia. *Eur J Pharmacol.* 2018;833:432-40.
- 170. Tombak A, Ay OI, Erdal ME, Sungur MA, Ucar MA, Akdeniz A, et al. MicroRNA Expression Analysis in Patients with Primary Myelofibrosis, Polycythemia vera and Essential Thrombocythemia. *Indian J Hematol Blood Transfus*. 2015;31(4):416-25.

- 171. Huang P, Xi J, and Liu S. MiR-139-3p induces cell apoptosis and inhibits metastasis of cervical cancer by targeting NOB1. *Biomed Pharmacother*. 2016;83:850-6.
- 172. Churov AV, Oleinik EK, and Knip M. MicroRNAs in rheumatoid arthritis: altered expression and diagnostic potential. *Autoimmun Rev.* 2015;14(11):1029-37.
- 173. Leah E. Rheumatoid arthritis: miR-155 mediates inflammation. *Nat Rev Rheumatol*. 2011;7(8):437.
- 174. Tsuchiya K, Takeuchi T, Takazawa A, Iida Y, and Seki T. [A successful surgical case of aortic arch aneurysm associated with aortic regurgitation]. *Kyobu Geka*. 1990;43(4):325-8.
- 175. Park HK, Jo W, Choi HJ, Jang S, Ryu JE, Lee HJ, et al. Time-course changes in the expression levels of miR-122, -155, and -21 as markers of liver cell damage, inflammation, and regeneration in acetaminophen-induced liver injury in rats. *J Vet Sci.* 2016;17(1):45-51.
- 176. Tili E, Chiabai M, Palmieri D, Brown M, Cui R, Fernandes C, et al. Quaking and miR-155 interactions in inflammation and leukemogenesis. *Oncotarget*. 2015;6(28):24599-610.
- Lefrancais E, Mallavia B, Zhuo H, Calfee CS, and Looney MR. Maladaptive role of neutrophil extracellular traps in pathogen-induced lung injury. *JCI Insight*. 2018;3(3).
- 178. Hawez A, Al-Haidari A, Madhi R, Rahman M, and Thorlacius H. MiR-155 Regulates PAD4-Dependent Formation of Neutrophil Extracellular Traps. *Front Immunol.* 2019;10:2462.
- 179. Parrillo JE. Pathogenetic mechanisms of septic shock. *N Engl J Med.* 1993;328(20):1471-7.
- 180. Asaduzzaman M, Wang Y, and Thorlacius H. Critical role of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling in septic lung injury. *Crit Care Med.* 2008;36(2):482-8.
- Asaduzzaman M, Lavasani S, Rahman M, Zhang S, Braun OO, Jeppsson B, et al. Platelets support pulmonary recruitment of neutrophils in abdominal sepsis. *Crit Care Med.* 2009;37(4):1389-96.
- Walley KR, Lukacs NW, Standiford TJ, Strieter RM, and Kunkel SL. Elevated levels of macrophage inflammatory protein 2 in severe murine peritonitis increase neutrophil recruitment and mortality. *Infect Immun.* 1997;65(9):3847-51.
- 183. Barton ED. Emergency medications via the endotracheal tube: when is this route preferred? *Acad Emerg Med.* 1998;5(9):942-3.
- 184. Zhang XW, Liu Q, Wang Y, and Thorlacius H. CXC chemokines, MIP-2 and KC, induce P-selectin-dependent neutrophil rolling and extravascular migration in vivo. *Br J Pharmacol.* 2001;133(3):413-21.
- Wan MX, Wang Y, Liu Q, Schramm R, and Thorlacius H. CC chemokines induce Pselectin-dependent neutrophil rolling and recruitment in vivo: intermediary role of mast cells. *Br J Pharmacol.* 2003;138(4):698-706.
- Li X, Klintman D, Liu Q, Sato T, Jeppsson B, and Thorlacius H. Critical role of CXC chemokines in endotoxemic liver injury in mice. *J Leukoc Biol.* 2004;75(3):443-52.

- 187. Aman J, van Bezu J, Damanafshan A, Huveneers S, Eringa EC, Vogel SM, et al. Effective treatment of edema and endothelial barrier dysfunction with imatinib. *Circulation.* 2012;126(23):2728-38.
- 188. Arumugam TV, Salter JW, Chidlow JH, Ballantyne CM, Kevil CG, and Granger DN. Contributions of LFA-1 and Mac-1 to brain injury and microvascular dysfunction induced by transient middle cerebral artery occlusion. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* 2004;287(6):H2555-60.
- 189. Steeber DA, Campbell MA, Basit A, Ley K, and Tedder TF. Optimal selectinmediated rolling of leukocytes during inflammation in vivo requires intercellular adhesion molecule-1 expression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1998;95(13):7562-7.
- 190. Arfors KE, Lundberg C, Lindbom L, Lundberg K, Beatty PG, and Harlan JM. A monoclonal antibody to the membrane glycoprotein complex CD18 inhibits polymorphonuclear leukocyte accumulation and plasma leakage in vivo. *Blood*. 1987;69(1):338-40.
- 191. Becker MD, Garman K, Whitcup SM, Planck SR, and Rosenbaum JT. Inhibition of leukocyte sticking and infiltration, but not rolling, by antibodies to ICAM-1 and LFA-1 in murine endotoxin-induced uveitis. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 2001;42(11):2563-6.
- 192. Porro CA, Cavazzuti M, Galetti A, Sassatelli L, and Barbieri GC. Functional activity mapping of the rat spinal cord during formalin-induced noxious stimulation. *Neuroscience*. 1991;41(2-3):655-65.
- 193. Mihaescu A, Thornberg C, Mattsson S, Wang Y, Jeppsson B, and Thorlacius H. Critical role of P-selectin and lymphocyte function antigen-1 in radiation-induced leukocyte-endothelial cell interactions in the colon. *Dis Colon Rectum*. 2007;50(12):2194-202.
- 194. Nolte D, Hecht R, Schmid P, Botzlar A, Menger MD, Neumueller C, et al. Role of Mac-1 and ICAM-1 in ischemia-reperfusion injury in a microcirculation model of BALB/C mice. Am J Physiol. 1994;267(4 Pt 2):H1320-8.
- 195. Riaz AA, Wan MX, Schaefer T, Schramm R, Ekberg H, Menger MD, et al. Fundamental and distinct roles of P-selectin and LFA-1 in ischemia/reperfusioninduced leukocyte-endothelium interactions in the mouse colon. *Ann Surg.* 2002;236(6):777-84; discussion 84.
- 196. von Andrian UH, Chambers JD, McEvoy LM, Bargatze RF, Arfors KE, and Butcher EC. Two-step model of leukocyte-endothelial cell interaction in inflammation: distinct roles for LECAM-1 and the leukocyte beta 2 integrins in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1991;88(17):7538-42.
- 197. Lotze MT, and Tracey KJ. High-mobility group box 1 protein (HMGB1): nuclear weapon in the immune arsenal. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2005;5(4):331-42.
- 198. Gimranov RF. [Changes in bioelectric activity in the human retina after transcranial magnetic stimulation]. *Fiziol Cheloveka*. 2004;30(1):47-9.
- 199. Wang H, Bloom O, Zhang M, Vishnubhakat JM, Ombrellino M, Che J, et al. HMG-1 as a late mediator of endotoxin lethality in mice. *Science*. 1999;285(5425):248-51.

- Wang H, Yang H, Czura CJ, Sama AE, and Tracey KJ. HMGB1 as a late mediator of lethal systemic inflammation. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* 2001;164(10 Pt 1):1768-73.
- 201. Bopp C, Bierhaus A, Hofer S, Bouchon A, Nawroth PP, Martin E, et al. Bench-tobedside review: The inflammation-perpetuating pattern-recognition receptor RAGE as a therapeutic target in sepsis. *Crit Care.* 2008;12(1):201.
- 202. Hatada T, Wada H, Nobori T, Okabayashi K, Maruyama K, Abe Y, et al. Plasma concentrations and importance of High Mobility Group Box protein in the prognosis of organ failure in patients with disseminated intravascular coagulation. *Thromb Haemost.* 2005;94(5):975-9.
- 203. Park JS, Gamboni-Robertson F, He Q, Svetkauskaite D, Kim JY, Strassheim D, et al. High mobility group box 1 protein interacts with multiple Toll-like receptors. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*. 2006;290(3):C917-24.
- 204. Furlani D, Donndorf P, Westien I, Ugurlucan M, Pittermann E, Wang W, et al. HMGB-1 induces c-kit+ cell microvascular rolling and adhesion via both toll-like receptor-2 and toll-like receptor-4 of endothelial cells. *J Cell Mol Med.* 2012;16(5):1094-105.
- 205. Szabo G, Romics L, Jr., and Frendl G. Liver in sepsis and systemic inflammatory response syndrome. *Clin Liver Dis.* 2002;6(4):1045-66, x.
- Polk HC, Jr., and Shields CL. Remote organ failure: a valid sign of occult intraabdominal infection. Surgery. 1977;81(3):310-3.
- 207. Wichterman KA, Baue AE, and Chaudry IH. Sepsis and septic shock--a review of laboratory models and a proposal. *J Surg Res.* 1980;29(2):189-201.
- Rittirsch D, Huber-Lang MS, Flierl MA, and Ward PA. Immunodesign of experimental sepsis by cecal ligation and puncture. *Nat Protoc.* 2009;4(1):31-6.
- Rice TW, and Bernard GR. Therapeutic intervention and targets for sepsis. *Annu Rev* Med. 2005;56:225-48.
- 210. Deans KJ, Haley M, Natanson C, Eichacker PQ, and Minneci PC. Novel therapies for sepsis: a review. *J Trauma*. 2005;58(4):867-74.
- 211. Shak S. Aerosolized recombinant human DNase I for the treatment of cystic fibrosis. *Chest.* 1995;107(2 Suppl):65S-70S.
- 212. Zuo Y, Yalavarthi S, Shi H, Gockman K, Zuo M, Madison JA, et al. Neutrophil extracellular traps in COVID-19. *JCI Insight*. 2020;5(11).
- Radermecker C, Detrembleur N, Guiot J, Cavalier E, Henket M, d'Emal C, et al. Neutrophil extracellular traps infiltrate the lung airway, interstitial, and vascular compartments in severe COVID-19. *J Exp Med.* 2020;217(12).